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GEM has been positioned as a market designed to
accommodate companies to which a higher investment risk
may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock
Exchange. Prospective investors should be aware of the
potential risks of investing in such companies and should
make the decision to invest only after due and careful
consideration. The greater risk profile and other
characteristics of GEM mean that it is a market more suited
to professional and other sophisticated investors.

Given the emerging nature of companies listed on GEM,
there is a risk that securities traded on GEM may be more
susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded
on the Main Board and no assurance is given that there will
be a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock
Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this report,
make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and
expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever
arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the
contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of ZZ Capital
International Limited # 18 & 7\ B BR & R - &] (the “Company”)
collectively and individually accept full responsibility, includes
particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange for the
purpose of giving information with regard to the Company. The
Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that to
the best of their knowledge and belief the information contained
in this report is accurate and complete in all material respects and
not misleading or deceptive, and there are no other matters the
omission of which would make any statement herein or this report
misleading.
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ZZ Capital International Limited # & A E B A R 2 T (the
“Company”), together with its subsidiaries (collectively, the
“Group”) (Stock Code: 08295) is an investments and corporate
investment advisory services firm with its headquarter based in
Hong Kong, with cross-border activities in China, North America,
Europe and Israel. The year of 2016 sets the stage of the
expansion of the Group’s new business, including international
mergers and acquisitions, helping target companies to grow and
expand their business globally.

Asian Capital Holdings Limited (“ACHL") was established in 2010
and is listed on the Growth Enterprise Market (“GEM") of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).
Following the acquisition of ACHL by AR iE & A & I2 A [R A 7
(Zhongzhi Capital Management Company Limited*) (“Zhongzhi
Capital”) in 2016, ACHL changed its name to ZZ Capital
International Limited F1EERBEER AR AR,

The Group’s principal operating subsidiary, Asian Capital
(Corporate Finance) Limited, is licensed with the Securities and
Futures Commission of Hong Kong for carrying on type 1 (dealing
in securities), type 4 (advising on securities), type 6 (advising on
corporate finance) and type 9 (asset management) regulated
activities. It provides a diversified range of corporate advisory and
assets management services.

In furtherance of the Group’s business, a subsidiary of Asian
Capital (Corporate Finance) Limited, ®RYIFIE SRR EREH S
EI AR A A (Asian Capital (Qianhai) Investment Management
Limited*) has been established in 2016, which has been approved
by Shenzhen Municipal Government Financial Services Office as a
Qualified Foreign Limited Partnership.

Moreover, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, ZZCl
Credit Limited (formerly known as Asian Capital (Resources)
Limited), holds a money lenders licence, where the Group can
complement its financial services capabilities by providing finance
against marketable securities.

Further information about the Group, including its controlling

shareholder Zhongzhi Capital, is available on the Company’s
website at www.zzcapitalinternational.com.

*  For identification purpose only
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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Dear Shareholders,

| am pleased to present the 2017/18 annual report of ZZ Capital
International Limited 18 & 7~ BIFE A R 2 7] (the “Company”),
and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) for the year ended
31 March 2018 (the “Year”).

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Year marked the second year of operation for the Company
after 1 & A & 12 A& BR 2 & Zhongzhi Capital Management
Company Limited* (“Zhongzhi Capital”) took majority control of
the Company on 24 February 2016, with the vision and strategy
to expand the Company’s business globally and to include
international investments in addition to corporate and investment
advisory. As part of its global rebranding efforts, the Company
launched its new official website www.zzcapitalinternational.com
in June 2017 and successfully convened the Company’s annual
general meeting on 10 August 2017 with all motions approved.

Founded in 2011, Zhongzhi Capital is a leading institutional
investor in China which focuses on investments in and
consolidation of industry leaders. Its performance and track record
are recognized as one of China’s top performing private equity
investors by various third-party agencies such as Forbes China and
the ChinaVenture Group. Positioned as the partner to industry
leaders, Zhongzhi Capital actively offers complete capital structure
solutions, often in partnership with leading Chinese enterprises.

By leveraging Zhongzhi Capital’s strong foundation and track
record in mainland China, the Company aims to offer a diversified
range of financial services including investment advisory, asset
management, and global alternative investments. By leveraging its
international footprint of seasoned professionals, the Company
has carefully sourced and screened a series of unique investment
opportunities of quality companies whose products and services
could be benefited from China’s market demand as well as ZZ
Capital International’s global financial expertise. As a result, we
have announced four transactions during the Year which
substantially elevated the global profile of the Company. The
Group’s corporate advisory services acted as the sole sponsor in
one initial public offering engagement. As well, performance fee
income has been generated by the Company through providing
professional advice to Zhongzhi Capital on a portfolio of stocks
under an investment advisory and management agreement (the
“IAM Agreement”).

*  For identification purpose only
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BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)

On the other hand, 2017 marked a general decline in Chinese
outbound investment activities mainly driven by the China
government'’s foreign exchange policy as well as restrictions on
certain types of investments and investors that do not benefit
China’s real economy. In response to the macro market conditions,
the Company has turned its focus to reorganization, cost
reduction, capital recycling as well as product diversification. For
example, in January 2018, Mr. ZHANG Longgen replaced Mr.
Edouard MERETTE as an Independent Non-executive Director of
the Company; in February, Ms. ZHANG Yun replaced Mr. CHO
Michael Min-kuk as Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer
of the Company; also Mr. YEUNG Kai Cheung Patrick, Managing
Director of Asian Capital (Corporate Finance) Limited (“ACCF"),
exited since March 2018 under the terms of the supplementary
appointment letter entered into on 30 June 2017.

In order to enhance corporate governance and internal control,
the Company has engaged Baker Tilly Hong Kong Risk Assurance
Limited (“Baker Tilly”) again as its internal auditor to evaluate,
assess and improve its internal control process and to ensure
appropriate policies and procedures are in place. Moreover, Baker
Tilly assisted the Company in drafting various internal operating
policies based on the findings and recommendations from the
internal audit.

Under the Greater Bay Area plan, the business and vitality of the
Group will arise with its strategic Hong Kong location, global
presence and China connectivity. It is the intention of the
Company’s management to optimize its resources and to develop
China-angled business strategies, and to diversify products and
services for sustainable growth ahead.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW
Results of the Group

For the Year, the Group’s revenue and other income grew to
approximately HK$256.06 million (2017: HK$216.37 million).
Revenue from investment advisory and management services
under an investment advisory and management agreement
accounted for approximately HK$230.30 million (2017:
HK$193.98 million) which represented a 19% increase.

Corporate advisory income (including placing and underwriting
income) amounted to approximately HK$16.15 million for the
Year (2017: HK$19.71 million), representing a 18% decrease
when compared to the last financial year. The decrease is mainly
due to the shift of business focus from corporate advisory to
alternative investments and overseas M&A.

There was a net investment income on financial assets of
approximately HK$6.28 million for the Year, compared to net
investment loss of HK$0.02 million recorded in the last financial
year. Net interest income decreased to approximately HK$1.02
million (2017: HK$2.79 million).

Operating expenses during the Year of approximately HK$229.24
million (2017: HK$148.50 million) were significantly higher due to
the continued development of the Group. The operating expenses
were mainly staff costs of approximately HK$110.64 million (2017:
HK$93.14 million) which included payroll based on elevated
headcounts and costs for recruitment of a world class team.
Professional fees of approximately HK$37.37 million (2017:
HK$15.30 million) was also witnessed during the Year as a result
of investment due diligence activities.

The resultant pre-tax profit for the Year was approximately
HK$26.82 million, compared to a pre-tax profit of approximately
HK$67.87 million for the last financial year.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Income tax expense of approximately HK$6.02 million was
incurred during the Year (2017: income tax credit of HK$11.31
million) as a result of profits generated by subsidiaries of the
Company in Hong Kong, United Kingdom (“UK") and the United
States of America (the "USA").

Total comprehensive income for the Year amounted to
approximately HK$18.17 million, compared to HK$79.18 million
for the last financial year. Basic earnings per share for the Year
was approximately HK0.59 cent (2017: HK2.23 cents), while
diluted earnings per share for the Year was the same as basic
earnings per share of approximately HK0.59 cent (2017: HK2.23
cents).

The Group maintained a non-current deposit of approximately
HK$207.58 million as at 31 March 2018 (2017: HK$36.08 million).
The significant increase is mainly due to the deposit made during
the year for a proposed acquisition project. Investments at fair
value through profit or loss were increased to approximately
HK$255.31 million as at 31 March 2018 (2017: HK$0.12 million).

Trade receivables as at 31 March 2018, after allowing for debt
provisioning, increased significantly to approximately HK$233.07
million (2017: HK$8.27 million), mainly because of the investment
advisory and management fee earned from Zhongzhi Capital
during the Year.

Other payables and accruals as at 31 March 2018 decreased to
approximately HK$14.24 million (2017: HK$47.19 million) which
was in line with the decrease in provision for staff bonus for the
Year.

As at 31 March 2018, tax payable increased to approximately
HK$5.92 million (2017: HK$0.03 million) as a result of profit
generated by subsidiaries of the Company in Hong Kong, UK and
the USA.

Net assets value of the Group as at 31 March 2018 increased to
approximately HK$990.41 million (2017: HK$972.24 million). The
net assets value per share as at 31 March 2018 was approximately
HK27.90 cents (2017: HK27.38 cents).
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)
Liquidity and financial resources

The Group continued to adopt a prudent financial management
strategy and maintained a healthy liquidity position. As at 31
March 2018, the Group had net current assets of approximately
HK$508.70 million (2017: HK$934.17 million), and the current
ratio was approximately 26.23 (2017: 20.50).

The Group’s operations and investments were financed principally
by revenues generated from business operations and available
bank balances. Funds are largely placed with financial institutions
with maturities timed to cover any known capital investments or
commitments. The Group had no borrowing and the gearing ratio
of the Group, calculated as total borrowings over total equity, was
nil as at 31 March 2018 (2017: Nil).

During the Year, most income billings were in Hong Kong dollars,
including the investment advisory and management fee receivable
under the IAM Agreement which was computed in Renminbi but
fixed in Hong Kong dollars at the time of billing, and most of the
business transactions, assets and liabilities were denominated in
Hong Kong dollars. Therefore, the Group had minimal exposure to
foreign currency risks. While the Group is expected to have more
foreign currency exposure in connection with its developments
and investments overseas, the Group will closely monitor its
foreign currency exposure and consider using hedging instruments
if available and necessary.

Capital structure

There has been no material change in the capital structure of the
Company during the Year. The capital source of the Company
comprises only ordinary shares.

Total equity attributable to owners of the Company amounted to
approximately HK$990.41 million as at 31 March 2018 (2017:
HK$972.24 million). This increase was mainly attributable to the
increase in the retained profits for the Year.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)
Commitments

As at 31 March 2018, the Group has operating lease
commitments of approximately HK$100.99 million (2017:
HK$87.06 million). As at 31 March 2018, pursuant to an unit
purchase agreement (the "Alerian Unit Purchase Agreement”)
entered into by the Group on 14 July 2017 for the acquisition of
the equity interest in GKD Index Partners, LLC, the total
consideration payable by the Group under the Alerian Unit
Purchase Agreement (including contingent consideration) is not
expected to exceed US$812 million (equivalent to approximately
HK$6,344 million). The Alerian Unit Purchase Agreement was
subsequently terminated on 22 May 2018. Save for the above, the
Group and the Company did not have any significant commitment
as at 31 March 2018 and 2017.

Charge on the Group’s assets

As at 31 March 2018, the Group did not have any charge on its
assets (2017: Nil).

Employees and remuneration policies

As of 31 March 2018, the Group employed 31 employees
including executive Directors (31 March 2017: 52 employees).
Total staff cost (including Directors’ emoluments) for the Year
amounted to approximately HK$110.64 million. Employees’
remuneration packages are decided based on their job
responsibilities, local market benchmarks and industry trends.
Employee bonus is distributable according to the performance of
the respective subsidiaries and employees concerned.

The Company adopted a share option scheme on 7 June 2010
(the “Share Option Scheme"), details of which are set out in note
25 to the consolidated financial statements. No option has
however been granted, exercised or lapsed under this Share
Option Scheme.

Contingent liabilities

As at 31 March 2018, the Group had no material contingent
liabilities (2017: Nil).
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Future plans for material investments or capital
assets

Adjusting from the rapid growth shown during the first half of the
fiscal year, and in response to China’s macro policies and
opportunities, the Group will apply a balanced and prudent
approach in business development and execution, by diversifying
amongst private equity, private credit, overseas listed Chinese
companies, asset management, and other structured and
opportunistic investment opportunities, whilst partnering with
other financial and strategic investors on deal by deal basis to
preserve its own offshore capital liquidity, generate short-term
profits and achieve long term growth. The Group will also
streamline its overseas offices, leverage Zhongzhi Capital’s
domestic resources, enhance internal management reporting
system, upgrade internal accounting system with more analytical
functionalities, and better use such data and information to
support the development orientation and resource allocation more
efficiently and effectively.

Material acquisitions and disposals of
subsidiaries and affiliated companies

On 14 July 2017, ZZCl Index Partners LLC, an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into the Alerian Unit
Purchase Agreement as the buyer (the “Buyer”) with Mr. Gabriel
Hammond, Mr. Daniel Hammond and Mr. Kenny Feng as the
sellers (the “Sellers”), Mr. Gabriel Hammond as the Sellers’
representative and GKD Index Partners, LLC, pursuant to which
the Buyer has conditionally agreed to acquire and the Sellers have
conditionally agreed to sell the equity interest in GKD Index
Partners, LLC, subject to the terms and conditions therein.

Details of above transaction were disclosed in the announcement
of the Company dated 14 July 2017 and 15 January 2018. A
deposit of approximately US$26,309,000 (approximately
HK$205,214,000) has been placed in an escrow account.

On 24 May 2018, upon the termination of Alerian Unit Purchase
Agreement, the deposit of US$25,000,000 (net of legal and
professional fees paid) has been released and returned to the
Group.
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OUTLOOK

2017's world growth rate of 3.8% was the strongest since 2011
with a notable rebound in global trade, driven by investment
recovery in advanced economies and continued strong growth in
emerging Asia, a notable upswing in emerging Europe, and signs
of recovery in bulk commodities. In April 2018, the International
Monetary Fund projected 2018 and 2019 global growth rate both
at 3.9%, supported by positive macro momentum, favorable
market sentiment, and accommodative financial conditions which
translate into growth in emerging/developing markets and resilient
growth in advanced economies. China is expected to grow 6.6%
and 6.4% respectively 2018 to 2019, while declining but still well
above the global market average. Over the medium term, global
growth is projected to decline to 3.7%.

During the 19th National Congress of the Communist Party of
China held in October 2017, Chinese President Xi committed to
end poverty in China by 2021, and to transform the country into a
“fully developed nation” by 2049. The Chinese economy is to
take gradual steps towards market reform and opening up to the
outside world. Stability on the economic, political, financial and
social fronts remain of paramount importance as China continues
its transition from an export and investment-driven economy to a
consumption and service-oriented one, with urbanization and
technology being key drivers of economic growth. Government
initiatives such as the Belt and Road program and the Guangdong-
Hong Kong-Macau Greater Bay Area plan provide the
infrastructure and policy support to facilitate the movements of
people, capital, goods and services, and to balance economic
growth amongst the regions. Investment will remain a powerful
tool to help maintain an average GNP growth rate of 6.5% in
order to achieve the goal of doubling GDP and GDP per capita by
2020 (relative to 2010) as set out in China’s 13th Five-Year Plan.

By responding to the policies highlighted by the 19th National
Congress, the Company has adjusted its strategy by streamlining
its global presence, reemphasizing its strategic Hong Kong
location and China connectivity, and by diversifying across
geographies, sectors, and asset classes. 2016 was a year of
foundation building, 2017 was a year of acceleration, and 2018 is
a year of inflection towards a more integrated Greater China and
international approach at a more balanced and steady pace to
secure both short-term and long-term success. With growing
investment opportunities in Greater Bay Area, Zhongzhi Capital
will grow its business by leveraging its local knowledge and
expertise, and will seek investment synergies by cooperating with
domestic and overseas partners.
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OUTLOOK (continued)

As of 31 March 2018, the IAM Agreement between the Group
and Zhongzhi Capital is expired, and the Group is no longer
entitled to the related investment advisory and management
income, leading to potential loss by the Group in the coming
quarters. Nevertheless, with the experience and momentum
accumulated to date, the Group will persist in developing asset
management business to maximize the value of its licensed
resources. At the same time, the Group will speed up the investing
and harvesting of secondary market investments in Chinese stocks
listed in Hong Kong and overseas, as well as injecting strategic
assets to create defensible and diversified income sources.

APPRECIATION

We would like to take this opportunity to thank all our team
members for their efforts and ethics, many of whom had joined us
from established firms around the globe. Working collectively
across oceans and time zones, our common mission and passion
enabled us to have gained market momentum and brand
recognition, which in turn are making us the outstanding investor
and customised partner to leading companies both in China and
abroad. We would also like to thank our fellow directors of the
Board for their trust, guidance and support to our strategy and
execution throughout the Report Period. With our commitment
and your support, combined with Zhongzhi Capital’s extensive
resources, we will roll up our sleeves and work hard towards
generating profits and shareholder value.

By Order of the Board
ZHANG Yun

Executive Director
Hong Kong, 22 June 2018
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. DUAN Di, aged 31, joined the Group in May 2016 as the
chairman of the Board and an executive director of the Company.
She is the chairman of the Nomination Committee and a member
of the Remuneration Committee. Ms. Duan is also a director of
Dragon Legend Investments Limited (“Dragon Legend”), a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company.

Ms. Duan has, since 2011 worked in Zhongzhi Capital and now
serves as its executive director. As at the date of this annual
report, Zhongzhi Capital is the controlling shareholder of the
Company. Ms. Duan obtained a bachelor of commerce degree in
finance and accounting in 2008 and a master of commerce
degree in finance and marketing in 2009 from the University of
Sydney, Australia respectively.

Ms. ZHANG Yun, aged 32, joined the Group in June 2016 as an
executive Director and was appointed as chief executive officer of
the Company in February 2018. She also holds several
directorships in certain subsidiaries of the Group.

Ms. Zhang has worked in Zhongzhi Capital since 2012 and
appointed as its chief executive officer since 2015. She is also the
legal representative and director of & /I ;T & ANE 2 AR A A
(Changzhou lJingjiang Capital Management Company Limited*)
(“Changzhou lJingjiang”) and Kang Bang Qi Hui (HK) Company
Limited (“Kang Bang”) and an appointed representative of & &
HERBEERO(BRER) (“EMEF"). Ms. Zhang is currently
the director of Jiangsu Fasten Co., Ltd (stock code: 000890, a
company whose shares are listed on Shenzhen Stock Exchange).
As at the date of this annual report, Kang Bang and &N EEFE are
substantial shareholders of the Company, and Changzhou Jingjiang
and Zhongzhi Capital are controlling shareholders of the
Company. Ms. Zhang obtained a master of laws degree from the
City University of Hong Kong in 2008.

*  For identification purpose only
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (Continued)

Mr. CHEN Jianfeng Peter, aged 48, joined the Group in April
2016 as the chief financial officer of Dragon Legend and was
subsequently appointed as the chief financial officer of the Group
(the”CFO") in May 2016. Mr. Chen has been appointed as an
executive Director and act as the compliance officer of the
Company since June 2016 and is also the alternate Director to Ms.
DUAN Di with effect from 5 April 2017. He was designated as
Partner in January 2017 and also holds several directorships in
certain subsidiaries of the Group.

Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Chen served at the Canada Pension
Plan Investment Board Asia Inc. as a Senior Principal in the Private
Investments team and as Director, Head of Business Development,
Asia. He previously worked at Bain Capital Advisors (China)
Limited based in Shanghai and at General Electric Company (GE).
He currently serves as executive director of the Hong Kong
Venture Capital and Private Equity Association (HKVCA) and serves
as an officer of the Young Presidents’ Organization (YPO), Pan
Asia Chapter. Mr. Chen holds a bachelor of science degree in
business administration from the University of North Carolina at
Chapel Hill awarded in 1993 and a degree of master in business
administration from the Harvard Business School awarded in
1999.

*  For identification purpose only
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Stephen MARKSCHEID, aged 64, joined the Group in June
2016 as an independent non-executive Director of the Company,
the chairman of the audit committee of the Board (the “Audit
Committee”) and a member of the Nomination Committee.

Mr. Markscheid is a venture partner at DealGlobe, a Shanghai
based boutique investment bank. He currently serves as a non-
executive director of ChinaCast Education Corporation and as an
independent director of Fanhua Inc., Jinko Solar Inc., and Ener-
Core Inc. ChinaCast Education Corporation and Ener-Core, Inc.
trade Over-The-Counter and Fanhua Inc. is listed on The NASDAQ
Stock Market (“NASDAQ") while Jinko Solar Inc. is listed on The
New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE"). Mr. Markscheid also served
as independent director of China Integrated Energy Corporation (a
company previously listed on NASDAQ) and China Ming Yang
Wind Power Group Limited (a company previously listed on NYSE).
He is also a trustee of Princeton-in-Asia. From 1998-2006, Mr.
Markscheid worked for GE Capital (“GE"”). During his time with
GE, Mr. Markscheid led GE's business development activities in
China and Asia Pacific, primarily acquisitions and direct
investments. Prior to GE, Mr. Markscheid worked with the Boston
Consulting Group throughout Asia. He was a commercial banker
for ten years in London, Chicago, New York, Hong Kong and
Beijing with Chase Manhattan Bank and First National Bank of
Chicago and has years of professional experience in the financial
services industries. Mr. Markscheid obtained a bachelor of arts
degree from Princeton University in 1976, a master degree in
international affairs from Johns Hopkins University in 1980, and a
master of degree in business administration from Columbia
University in 1991, where he was class valedictorian.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
(Continued)

Mr. ZHANG Weidong, aged 53, joined the Group in July 2016 as
an independent non-executive director of the Company, the
member of the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and
Nomination Committee.

Mr. Zhang is currently the executive director of OP Financial
Investments Limited (Stock Code: 01140), a company whose
shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange and a
partner of Oriental Patron Financial Group primarily responsible
for private equity investments. Mr. Zhang has over 14 years of
experience in the operation and management of commercial
banking, during which he worked in the international business
department of the Industrial and Commercial Bank of China
Limited (“ICBC") with final position level as deputy general
manager of department, including 3 years in ICBC Almaty Branch,
where he was in charge of treasury, credit lending and office
operations. Moreover, Mr. Zhang has 12 years of investment
banking experience, served as executive director of ICEA Finance
Group (the investment banking arm of ICBC) and managing
director of Alpha Alliance Finance Holdings, responsible for
corporate finance and sales department respectively. He is also an
independent non-executive Director of Tianjin Port Development
Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 03382) whose shares are listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Mr. Zhang holds a master
degree from Renmin University in Economics, a diploma of
Programme for Management Development of Harvard Business
School and held a fellowship from Columbia University in New
York.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
(Continued)

Mr. ZHANG Longgen, aged 54, joined the Group in January
2018 as an independent non-executive director of the Company,
the chairman of the Remuneration Committee and the member of
the Audit Committee.

Mr. Zhang is currently a director of JinkoSolar Holding Co., Ltd.
(stock code: JKS) and the chief executive director of Dago New
Energy Corp. (stock code: DQ), both are listed on NYSE. Before
that, from September 2008 to September 2014, he was the chief
financial officer and director of JinkoSolar Holding Co., Ltd. From
February 2006 to August 2008, he worked in Xinyuan Real Estate
Co., Ltd. (stock code: XIN), a company listed on NYSE as the chief
financial officer and director. Mr. Zhang has extensive financial
expertise and financial management experience. He has served as
an independent director in various listed companies, including,
among others, China Ming Yang Wind Power Group Limited (a
company listed on the NYSE, stock code: MY), China Fordoo
Holdings Limited (a company listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange, stock code: 02399) and CCS Supply Chain
Management Co., Ltd. (a company listed on the Shanghai Stock
Exchange, stock code: 600180). Mr. Zhang was qualified as a
certified public accountant and was granted such certificate by the
State Board of Public Accounting of the State of Texas in the
United States in August 1995. He obtained his membership from
the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants in July
2002. Mr. Zhang holds a master’s degree in professional
accounting and a master’s degree in business administration from
West Texas A&M University.
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The Board is pleased to present its annual report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
Year.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Its
subsidiaries are principally engaged in investment holding,
provision of corporate advisory services, investment advisory and
asset management services.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the Year as required by
Schedule 5 to the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance has been
covered in the “Management Discussion and Analysis” section as
well as this Directors’ Report of this annual report. Risk disclosure
sections that follow hereafter should be read in conjunction with
the “Management Discussion and Analysis” and note 30 to the
consolidated financial statements. These form part of this
directors’ report.

Principal risks and uncertainties
Business and associated risks

The Group has been reliant on its revenue streams to meet its
overhead commitments principally comprised of staff costs and
rental expenses. In doing so, the Group has sought to grow its
business operations without reliance on its original capital and
reserve to meet these commitments. Whilst revenue and other
income have been improving, with the development of new
business strategies, the associated need for talent, capital,
technology and premises may from time to time not entirely be
covered by revenue in the future. Although the fees paid under
the IAM Agreement have provided substantial income to allow the
Group to sustain itself to date, such fees are subject to China’s
capital control restrictions and the fluctuation of exchange rate
between Renminbi and the Hong Kong dollar. Furthermore,
alternative sources of revenue need to be sought after the IAM
Agreement’s expiry on 31 March 2018.
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Operational risk

Investment execution and delivery of quality advisory services rely
on the experience, technical competence and diligence of the
professional staffs involved. The ability to hire, retain and motivate
competent staffs, and to maintain the adequate types and
numbers of licenses required to complete assignments to the
satisfaction of investees, clients, and regulators constantly pose
operational risks to the Group. In response, the Group has
experienced and licensed staffs in place, supplemented by the
annual Enterprise Risks assessment by Baker Tilly and financial
audit by Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, as well as directors
and officers liability insurance coverage to help managing such
risk.

Reliance on controlling shareholders

The revenue generated from the IAM Agreement, which is entered
into between the Group and its controlling shareholder, Zhongzhi
Capital in February 2016, represents a significant portion of the
revenue of the Year. In order to mitigate the reliance on its
controlling shareholders, the Group is actively pursuing to put in
place new business development strategies by expanding its asset
management business and exposing international M&A business
alongside with the existing corporate and investment advisory
services. This will provide good diversification of revenue from
multiple sources that will provide long term sustainability and
prosperity to the Group.

Credit and counter party risks

The normal payment terms of the mandates relating to corporate
advisory services involve an initial retainer fee and progress
payments based on milestones achieved. The fee notes issued are
due for payment upon presentation. The Group has not to date
experienced any material bad debts. With the exit of the legacy
team of ACCF in February 2018, such businesses and associated
risks would be minimum going forward. On the other hand, the
Group does extend credit financing such as the US$31 million
loan to Geoswift, and carries a money lender license in Hong
Kong, therefore credit and counterparty risks shall be carefully
evaluated and managed. The Group’s deposits with licensed banks
in Hong Kong also give rise to counterparty risks, although these
are well-known and well-capitalized institutions such as the
Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation and the Bank of
East Asia. Lastly, the IAM Agreement has generated significant
receivables albeit from the controlling shareholder of the
Company.
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Financial risk

The Group’s underwriting business exposes its capital to the
underlying securities and therefore requires a robust and adequate
system for risk assessment, robust documentation, limit approval
procedures and constant market and counter party risk
monitoring. With the exit of the legacy team of ACCF in February
2018, such businesses and associated risks would be minimum
going forward. The Group has not borrowed during the Year so
there have been no liquidity and funding cost risks. The Group has
reduced its historical investment portfolio to one Hong Kong-listed
security with manageable market risk and liquidity. On the other
hand, the Group has been investing in Hong Kong and US-listed
Chinese companies via fundamental research and China insights.
As the Group diversifies its revenue stream and perhaps starting to
apply leverage, its financial risk profile may change accordingly .

Environmental policies and performance

The Group's policies and practices are environmentally friendly. To
help conserve the environment, the management has
implemented green office practices and practice of recycling and
reducing consumption of resources, for example, transmission of
bulk documents through electronic means, marking up of
documents electronically rather than using printed versions,
double-sided black & white printing, recycling of printed papers
and envelopes, and switching off lights and air conditioning after
working/non-office hours, public holidays.
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Compliance with relevant laws and regulations

Compliance with relevant laws and regulations is a cornerstone of
operating the businesses of the Group. Changes in laws, rules,
regulations and enforcement practices may constantly pose
challenges to the operation of the Group. Amongst others, the
Group operates within the confine of the relevant company laws
in Hong Kong, Cayman Islands, British Virgin Islands, Israel,
England, the United States and The People’s Republic of China, as
well as under the GEM Listing Rules and the Securities & Futures
Ordinance, Chapter 571 of the laws of Hong Kong (“SFO"). ACCF
is a corporation licensed under section 116 of the SFO for carrying
on type 1,4,6 and 9 regulated activities, and therefore subject to
the requirements of SFO and codes and guidelines issued by the
Hong Kong Securities and Futures Commission. ZZCl Credit
Limited (formerly known as Asian Capital (Resources) Limited)
holds a money lenders licence and is subject to the provisions of
the Money Lenders Ordinance. The Group has established and
maintained adequate policies and procedures to ensure
compliance with all applicable laws and regulations. In addition,
the Group has also adopted a whistleblowing policy for reporting
of wrong-doing within the Group. The whistleblowing policy can
be found in the Group’s compliance manual which is regularly
reviewed and updated as and when necessary. The Group has
assembled a team of professionals with many years of experience
and expertise in legal, compliance and financial control in the
financial industry. With the right blend of talent, this team
provides the Group with the requisite level of quality assurance to
ensure compliance with all relevant laws and regulations, and to
minimize the Group's risk exposure as it embarks on new business
initiatives such as asset management and international M&As.
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Key relationships with employees, customers,
suppliers and other stakeholders

Details of emolument policy and employee benefits are set out in
the section headed “Employees and remuneration policies” under
“Management Discussion and Analysis” in this annual report. The
Group's operational and organizational structure is fairly simple
and has not encountered major difficulties in recruitment,
retention or restructuring. In addition, the Group also trains and
supports staff to further develop relevant professional skills and
networks, and rewards employees with annual offsites. There have
been no interruptions to operations nor any labour disputes to
date.

Since listing on GEM in June 2010, the Group enhanced its
compensation policy with the implementation of the share option
schemes, aligning the long-term objectives of staff with those of
the Group.

The Group has maintained productive relationships with its
customers, investees, co-investors and suppliers. With its
professional board, redesigned company website, upgraded
annual report and successful annual general meeting, the Group
has significantly improved its transparency and communication
with its shareholders. The controlling shareholder has also been
very supportive and resourceful in growing the business and
mindful of all shareholders” interests to see the Company succeed.
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RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the Year and the state of affairs of
the Group as at 31 March 2018 are set out in the consolidated
financial statements on pages 62 to 143 of this annual report.

The Board does not recommend the payment of a dividend for the
Year (2017: Nil).

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from
Tuesday, 8 August 2018 to Friday, 10 August 2018 (both days
inclusive) for the purpose of determining the entitlement to attend
and vote at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company (the “AGM"). During which period no transfer of shares
of the Company will be registered. In order to be eligible to attend
and vote at the AGM, all completed transfer documents
accompanied by the relevant share certificate(s) must be lodged
with the Hong Kong Branch Share Registrar of the Company,
Tricor Investor Services Limited at Level 22, Hopewell Centre, 183
Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong for registration not later than 4:30
on Monday, 7 August 2018.

PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Movements in the plant and equipment of the Group during the
Year are set out in note 13 to the consolidated financial
statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the share capital of the Company are set out in note 24
to the consolidated financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2018, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution to shareholders comprising share premium account
and retained earnings amounted to approximately HK$839.46
million (2017: HK$810.05 million). Details of the Company’s
distributable reserves as at 31 March 2018 are set out in note 35
to the consolidated financial statements.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Year and as at the date of this report are
as follows:

Executive Directors

Ms. DUAN Di (Chairman)

Ms. ZHANG Yun (Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. CHEN Jianfeng Peter* (Chief Financial Officer)

Mr. CHO Michael Min-kuk (Chief Executive Officer)
(resigned on 15 February 2018)

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Stephen MARKSCHEID

Mr. ZHANG Weidong

Mr. ZHANG Longgen (appointed on 4 January 2018)
Mr. Edouard MERETTE (resigned on 4 January 2018)

Biographical details of the Directors currently in service are set out
on pages 15 to 19 of this annual report.

* also an alternate Director to Ms. DUAN Di

CHANGE IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTOR

Pursuant to Rule 17.50A(1) of the GEM Listing Rules, change in
information of Director is set out below:

2

RAFEREERARETNERRZESTMNT ¢

BITES

Bzt (/%)

RBL L (TTBEE)

BRElSEEE (HEIEE)

SRR S (FTRAREE)
(7201842 A 15 HEHTE)

BIYFHTES
Stephen MARKSCHEID %t 4
SRETR A

REER LA (MR 2018F 1 4B EEE)
Edouard MERETTE 24 (722018 F 1 H 4 H&HE)

BAEBNESENFAERSNAFTREISESE
F19H o

TAEBL S RS
EEERNEE

B GEM F#RBISE 17.50AN 1§ EEEH BT
AT -

Name of Director Details of change

EEHE BETFHE
Ms. ZHANG Yun — Appointed as director of Jiangsu Fasten Co., Ltd (stock code: 000890, a
ke company whose shares are listed on Shenzhen Stock Exchange) on 12 April
2017)
— R7F4ANBEZARIHLZBEROBR QTR NG KRR :

000890 ' B ERYBEFRBA LM Z AR 2EE

—  Appointed as Chief Executive Officer of the Company on 15 February 2018
— R2018F2 A 15 BEZAAEARTTIEE

Mr. ZHANG Longgen —
RER L L —

Appointed as independent non-executive Director on 4 January 2018

R20184F 1 A4 A RRERBUIFNTES

—  Appointed as chief executive director of Dago New Energy Corp. (stock code:
DQ, a company whose shares are listed on NYSE) on 16 January 2018

— R2018F1 A6 HEZERAREHERERDF (KM DQ » RINE
MR ET 2 AR 2 TR
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors has a service contract with the Group which
is not determinable by the Group within one year without
payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Articles of Association provide that Directors shall be entitled
to be indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all
losses or liabilities incurred or sustained in defending any
proceedings, whether civil or criminal, in which judgment is given
in his favour, or in which he is acquitted. The Company has
maintained liability insurance to provide appropriate cover for the
directors of the Group during the Year.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
ASSOCIATED CORPORATION

As at 31 March 2018, none of the Directors and chief executive of
the Company had any interests or short positions in any shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities
Futures Ordinance, Chapter 571 of the laws of Hong Kong
("SFO™)) which were required to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of
the SFO (including interests or short positions which they were
taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or
which were required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be
entered in the register referred to therein, or which were required,
pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules relating
to securities transactions by the Directors to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 March 2018, so far as was known to the Directors, the
following persons (other than the Directors or chief executive of
the Company) had, or were deemed to have, interests or short
positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company which
would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or which were recorded in
the register required to be kept by the Company under Section
336 of the SFO, or who were directly or indirectly interested in 5%
or more of the nominal value of any class of shares capital carrying
rights to vote in all circumstances at general meetings of any
member of the Group:

FERRRAD ARG K AEBRDF
MR RRE

M2018F3A31H  BESA - TIAL(R
NAEIEBRREITEABBRIN RARQ R D kAE
BAROFPHER R BEEAREEFRBEK
BIEXVEE 2 REIDEIEX AR QR FE R KA
MBERNABIRERS RBAEEMIFE3361KET
UEEMELMOERIAR  KEEHEEE
YRR RAEBR TEAEBERKE R
AMBREAE ERENEAERIRAEENS%
SR LA EAER

Long positions in share of the Company REQATRGHEFE
Approximate
percentage of
Number of shareholding
Name of shareholder Capacity shares held in the Company
RN e 4
RER AR 56 FERHEE BMAOBEDL
Jinhui Capital Company Limited Beneficial owner 2,159,552,102 60.82%
("Jinhui”) (Note 1)
Jinhui Capital Company Limited BEmEAA
(Minhui ) (KfaE 1)
Zhongzhi Capital (HK) Company Interest of controlled corporation 2,159,552,102 60.82%
Limited (“Zhongzhi Capital (HK)")
(Note 1)
TEERN(EE)ERAR REEGLEE R
(ThEERGESE) DM T1)
FIRERESBISEERAENE  Interest of controlled corporation 2,159,552,102 60.82%

(BBRA %) (Shenzhen Qianhai
Zhongzhi Jinhui Investment
Management Partnership Enterprise
(Limited Partnership)*) (“Shengzhen
Zhongzhi”) (Notes 1 and 3)
RYBTETESEREER
ARER(BRER)
(DRYIRAE D) (Bfat 1% 3)

REHLAE e R
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Approximate
percentage of

Number of shareholding
Name of shareholder Capacity shares held in the Company
RN B RFEMN
RERERE &4 RO EE BRBEDL
Kang Bang Qi Hui (HK) Company Beneficial owner 455,820,525 12.84%
Limited (“Kang Bang"”) (Note 2)
EAEE(EB)BRIB([ERFLD ERlEA
(Ftat2)
BINEBEERER O (BREE) Interest of controlled corporation 455,820,525 12.84%
(Notes 2 and 3)
EMNEAEBREF O (BREH) RS ER A R
(Hizt2 % 3)
AREBBEREEEFR AR Interest of controlled corporation 2,615,372,627 73.66%
(Tibet Kangbang Sheng Bo Business
Management Company Limited*)
("Tibet Kangbang”) (Note 3)
AREABBECEEREFR AR REHER R R
(TR B]) (F1aE 3)
BMRIEAREEFRAR Interest of controlled corporation 2,615,372,627 73.66%
(Changzhou Jingjiang Capital
Management Company Limited*)
(“Changzhou Jingjiang”) (Note 3)
BINRIERERAFRAR] RIEFLER R
(TMEMEOTD) (HaE3)
Zhongzhi Capital (Note 3) Interest of controlled corporation 2,615,372,627 73.66%
RIEE AR (Ffat3) REHLER R
FERROLtR) EREEERAA Interest of controlled corporation 2,615,372,627 73.66%
(Note 3)
PERBER) ERNEBEFRAR] Rt ER AR
(BtaE3)
FERY (Lt BAEEBEAR AT Interest of controlled corporation 2,615,372,627 73.66%

(Note 3)
FEREY(ULtR)EXRERBRAA
(Hte£3)

REHLEE MR
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Approximate
percentage of

Number of shareholding

Name of shareholder Capacity shares held in the Company
EAR DR RER

RREHE =37 RO EE BB
Mr. XIE Zhikun (“Mr. Xie") (Note 3) Interest of controlled corporation 2,615,372,627 73.66%

fREREE ([BEE ) (AiE3)

Notes:

REHLAE e R

For identification purpose only

Jinhui is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Zhongzhi Capital (HK), which in turn is
wholly-owned by Shenzhen Zhongzhi. As such, each of Jinhui, Zhongzhi
Capital (HK) and Shenzhen Zhongzhi is deemed to be interested in the
2,159,552,102 shares in the Company by virtue of the SFO.

Kang Bang is a wholly-owned subsidiary of &/ EHEHER EH L (GRE
#). As such, each of Kang Bang and /| EHEMEREHR L (FREE) is
deemed to be interested in the 455,820,525 shares of the Company by virtue
of the SFO.

Shenzhen Zhongzhi is owned as to 95% by Tibet Kangbang as limited partner
and 5% by Changzhou Jingjiang as general partner, and # /N EHE 1 &
F 0 (F IR A # ) is owned as to 99% by Changzhou Jingjiang as limited
partner and 1% by Tibet Kangbang as general partner. Tibet Kangbang and
Changzhou Jingjiang are wholly-owned subsidiaries of Zhongzhi Capital
which in turn is owned as to 95% by 8RR F (1L R) EAXEEFR N AE].
JERE(ILR)EAREHE BRG] is owned as to 99.933% by #/8RZ (4L F)
&R E#F R 2 Al which is wholly and beneficially owned by Mr. Xie. As
such, each of Tibet Kangbang, Changzhou Jingjiang, Zhongzhi Capital, #,&
REOLR)EXERFRAA, FEREELR) EXREEFRLA and Mr.
Xie is deemed to be interested in an aggregate of 2,615,372,627 shares of
the Company held by Jinhui and Kang Bang by virtue of the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2018, the Directors were
not aware of any other person (other than the Directors and chief
executive of the Company) who had an interest or short position
in the shares or underlying shares of the Company which would
fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or which were recorded in
the register required to be kept by the Company under Section
336 of the SFO, or who was directly or indirectly interested in 5%
or more of the nominal value of any class of share capital carrying
rights to vote in all circumstances at general meetings of any
member of the Group.

30
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has adopted a share option scheme on 7 June 2010
(the “Share Option Scheme”). The principal terms of the Share
Option Scheme were summarized in the section headed “Share
Option Scheme” in Appendix V to the Company’s prospectus
dated 11 June 2010. The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is
to enable the Company to grant options to the participants as
incentive or rewards for their contributions to the Group.

During the Year, no option was granted, exercised or lapsed under
the Share Option Scheme.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed under the section headed “Share Option
Scheme” above, at no time during the Year was the Company, its
subsidiaries or its ultimate holding company or any subsidiary of
such ultimate holding company a party to any arrangement to
enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of acquisition of
shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body
corporate.

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS
IN CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in this annual report, there was no other
contract of significance between the Company or any of its
subsidiaries and any controlling shareholder of the Company or
any of its subsidiaries during the Year.

During the Year, none of the Company or any of its subsidiaries
has entered into any contract of significance for the provision of
services by any controlling shareholder of the Company or any of
its subsidiaries.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in this annual report, no other transactions,
arrangements or contracts of significance in relation to the
Group'’s business to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries
was a party or were parties and in which a Director or any entities
connected with a Director had a material interest, whether directly
or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the Year or at any time during
the Year.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACT

No contracts concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Group
were entered into or in existence during the Year.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has through the Nomination Committee reviewed
the independence of each of the independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Stephen MARKSCHEID, Mr. ZHANG
Weidong and Mr. ZHANG Longgen who were in service during
the Year, and has received annual confirmations of their
independence pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules. The
Company considers all of them independent.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Related party transactions during the Year as disclosed in note 32
to the consolidated financial statements which constituted
connected transaction or continuing connected transactions under
the GEM Listing Rules are as follows:

(a) Investment advisory income from controlling
shareholder

On 2 February 2016, Zhongzhi Capital and ACCF entered
into the IAM Agreement, pursuant to which ACCF was
appointed as an investment manager to Zhongzhi Capital to
provide investment advice and investment management
services in managing the investment portfolio commencing
from 21 March 2016 to 31 March 2018. Details and
principal terms of the IAM Agreement including the
remuneration payable to ACCF by Zhongzhi Capital in terms
of management fee and performance fee under the IAM
Agreement were set out in the circular of the Company
dated 4 March 2016.
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Zhongzhi Capital is a controlling shareholder and a
connected person of the Company. Accordingly, the
transactions contemplated under the IAM Agreement
constitute continuing connected transactions for the
Company under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules. The
annual cap for the period from 21 March 2016 to 31 March
2016 was HK$150 million and for each of the periods from
1 April 2016 to 31 March 2017 and from 1 April 2017 to 31
March 2018 was HK$250 million. As the applicable
percentage ratios in respect of the annual caps exceeded
25% and the annual caps were more than HK$10,000,000,
the transactions contemplated under the IAM Agreement
were subject to the reporting, announcement, independent
shareholders’ approval and annual review requirements
under the GEM Listing Rules. On 21 March 2016, the
independent shareholders of the Company duly approved
the IAM Agreement and the annual caps. During the Year,
investment advisory and management income under the
IAM Agreement amounted to approximately HK$230.30
million.

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed and
confirmed that the above continuing connected transaction
has been entered into (i) in the ordinary and usual course of
business of the Group; (ii) on normal commercial terms or
better; and (iii) according to the relevant agreements
governing them on terms that are fair and reasonable and in
the interests of the shareholders of the Company as a
whole.

The auditor of the Company, Messrs. Deloitte Touche
Tohmatsu, has been engaged to report on the above
continuing connected transaction and it has provided a
letter to the Board confirming that nothing has come to its
attention that causes it to believe that the above continuing
connected transaction (i) have not been approved by the
Board; (ii) were not entered into, in all material respect, in
accordance with the relevant agreements governing the
transactions; and (iii) have exceeded the annual cap as set
by the Company.
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(b) Acquisition of 0.673% equity interest in SSC
Holdco Limited

On 23 May 2017, the Group entered into an agreement as
the buyer with ZZ Capital Holdings No.1 Company Limited,
a fellow subsidiary of the Company, as the seller, pursuant
to which the buyer agreed to purchase and the seller agreed
to sell 0.673% equity interest in SSC Holdco Limited, an
unlisted company, at a consideration of approximately
HK$14,694,000. Details of the above transaction were
disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 23
May 2017.

Save as disclosed above, the Directors are not aware of any related
party transactions disclosed in note 32 to the consolidated
financial statements that constitute connected transactions or
continuing connected transactions of the Group, nor are there any
connected transactions or continuing connected transactions that
require to be disclosed in this annual report under the GEM Listing
Rules. The Company has complied with the disclosure
requirements, where applicable, in accordance with Chapter 20 of
the GEM Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

Ms. DUAN Di and Ms. ZHANG Yun, executive Directors up until
the date of this report, served certain capacities in Zhongzhi
Capital and/or its subsidiaries/associates as listed below which
provide asset management, investment management and/or
investment advisory services that may compete or are likely to
compete with the business of the Group:

(b) W& SSC Holdco Limited 0.673% AR #&

MR2017F5H238 + & & B 877 Capital
Holdings No.1 Company Limited (2~ 2 & 2 [7]
EAMB AR - 1EREF)EIMLIHE - &t
BEFREBEMEARSLE—HIELTA
7] SSC Holdco Limited 2 0.673% A% - (B
#9514,694,000 7T LMl R S BEHER
ANARBEA2017F5 232 RER -

BREXFEEEIN  EFEHINESEEMBRE
HIFE32 TR B EAIRES X HEAAKE 2 H
BERXFGRBBEMERS > TTIABTEMNERE
GEM LT RAIR AN FRA T AR E ZBEZHK
SEHER S - AABIEAREGEM EHARRIE 20
BESTRESRE (HMER) -

EERHGFRBNES

EEABEAY TEFRAREIRRER LT
R EERR,LEKBRE, B QR EENR
TETERE MZEFARMRERZEEER &
BEE R E R IR fL ok ) gL SR SR B 5
BREAEF

Ms. DUAN Di
Bzt
Name of company EIECE Capacity
514
Zhongzhi Capital EeER= VN Legal representative and director
EERERARES
FINEE N ELRREERAR * FYNEDE HEEBRBEER A *  Director
2
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Ms. ZHANG Yun

REELZ T
Name of company AEEH Capacity
g1
Changzhou Jingjiang* BN Legal representative and director
EEREARES
BMNEBEERERL(BRAE) BMERHEREIEEHR L (BRE) Appointed representative
RRARK
EMNEKEEERFZAGRAE! EMERCEEEEBBRARF"  Legal representative and director
EERERARES
IRE X ERERAERAR TREHC¥EEAEMRNEGR AT Legal representative and director
EERRARES
NEBZELPXEEERLE (BREHE) NEBELXTEEBLE Appointed representative
(BRER) REAREK
NETHEXEEAREE(ARER) NETBEEEESREE Appointed representative
(BRER) REAREK
IRARCEERERGREE TRAFECXEEFMRNEGHMEHE  Appointed representative
(ERE®) (BERE%)" REREARE
BMNEECEEREREGRAR BMEBCEEEARABMRAAY  Legal representative and director
EERRARES
BMNEESEEREAEGBLE BMNEBLSEEEEAEGREE Appointed representative
(ER&®) (BR&ER) RRINRE
R BRI TEERBRAR BB TEEEREBRAR Legal representative and director
FEERBRARES
NERBEGXEEABREE(ARER) NERFELEEESREE Appointed representative
(BRER) REAREK
NEE#HEPEERARCX(BRA®E) NEHECXEEARLE Appointed representative
(BERERE)" RREARE
NERELXEEABLEX(BRAR) NERSLEETEABLE Appointed representative
(BEREE) RRANRE
NESHCLXBEREREE (BREHE) NESCEXBEEEBILE Appointed representative
(BRER) REAREK
BREREFREEEERAF BREREFREEEER AT Legal representative and director
EEREARES
BRERRERESRLE (BREAR) TRERRERESRDLE Appointed representative
(BERER)" REREARE

ERENREREABLE(FRAR)

BERENBREREARLE
(BlRAB)

Appointed representative

REERE
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Name of company AEEH Capacity
&1
BRERKEERBRA A" ERZRKEECEERAA Legal representative and director
FEERBRARES
RENE N B RRBERARY RYNATE B RREARAR®  Director
=
BREREREEEBRAR! BREREREEEBR A" Legal representative and director
FEERKALES
TEERBRMNER AR TEERBRMDAR AR Director
=

& associate of Zhongzhi Capital
FEE AR E AT

o subsidiaries of Zhongzhi Capital
HEEANNERR

Zhongzhi Capital, through its wholly-owned subsidiaries, Jinhui
and Kang Bang, indirectly owns a 73.66% interest in the
Company and is the controlling shareholder of the Company.
Zhongzhi Capital’s key services include private equity investments
in the primary market, private placement, mergers and acquisitions
of overseas businesses and funds which may compete or are likely
to compete with the business of the Group.

Save as disclosed above, the Directors are not aware of any
business or interest of the Directors, the controlling shareholders
of the Company and their respective close associates (as defined
under the GEM Listing Rules) that competed or might compete
with the businesses of the Group nor any conflict of interest which
any such person had or might have with the Group.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association or the laws of Cayman Islands which would oblige the
Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing
shareholders.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on publicly available information and within the knowledge
of the Directors, as at the date of this report, there is sufficient
public float in the issued share capital of the Company pursuant
to the GEM Listing Rules.
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CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITIES AND
CHARITABLE DONATIONS

Through community involvements by the Group and its
employees, the Group is committed to being a good corporate
citizen, and ACCF has, since 2008, been awarded the Caring
Company Logo by The Hong Kong Council of Social Service.
During 2017, the Group made charitable donations of
approximately HK$0.01 million for Asian Capital Holdings Limited
Scholarship of the Chinese University of Hong Kong.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
REPORT

The Group endeavors to minimize impact to the environment. For
the purpose of disclosing the information in relation to
environment, social and governance (“ESG") in accordance with
ESG Reporting Guide in Appendix 20 to the GEM Listing Rules, an
ESG report of the Company will be published on the websites of
the Stock Exchange and the Company within three months after
the publication of this annual report of the Company.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS

In the Year, the Group’s five largest customers accounted for
approximately 99.45% of the Group’s revenue with the largest
customer constituted approximately 93.45% of the Group’s
revenue.

The largest customer during the Year was Zhongzhi Capital, which
is a controlling shareholder of the Company interested in
approximately 73.66% of the issued share capital of the Company
as at 31 March 2018. The investment advisory and management
income generated under the IAM Agreement have resulted in an
over concentration of revenue contributed by Zhongzhi Capital as
well as the corresponding surge in receivables, which are on 90
days terms.

Save as disclosed above, based on information available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, none of the
Directors, their close associates, or any shareholders of the
Company (which to the knowledge of the Directors owned more
than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had interest in
any of the Group'’s five largest customers during the Year.

BERAEEREEEMNHRSE  KAEBEH K
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BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

The Group did not have any outstanding bank loans and other
borrowings as at 31 March 2018 (2017: Nil).

PROPERTIES

The Group did not own any property or property interests as at 31
March 2018.

INTEREST CAPITALISED
No interest was capitalized by the Group during the Year.
RETIREMENT SCHEMES

Particulars of the retirement schemes are set out in note 26 to the
consolidated financial statements.

GROUP FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 144 of
this annual report.

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM SHARE SUBSCRIPTION

Reference is being made to the Company’s circular dated 28
January 2016. This section is made by the Company to provide an
update on the use of proceeds from the shares of the Company
subscribed by Jinhui and Kang Bang.

RITERREMBEE

MR2018F 3 A31H @ AEBWELMKREZERDIR
TERREMEE (20174 : #) -

YES

MR2018F 3 A31H  AEBWEHEGETMYEK
YIsERER o

BEXMLRE
RIER - AEBEEISH B AIFAR -
B REE

RIGTBIMF B RN AR S M B MA M FE 26

SR BME
AEEEEREMRFENREAREEREE
BB ESHNARFRE 1448 ©
BROBBEREREAR
IRMAARIBHIA2016F 1 A28 HAYBEK ° A

N EEARENIR A Jinhui M EFATREBARLQF RN
ISR MBI SHENR -

Proposed Amount

Proposed use of proceed to be used (HK$)

Amount used as of
31 March 2018 (HK$) Changes and explanations

BZE2018F3H31H

FERERERZ BREHSE (BT EEHASBECER) 2BRHSA
Underwriting business 316,000,000 90,017,000 Actual usage is less than proposed
BEHET in response to actual clients’ need.
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Proposed Amount
to be used (HK$)

Proposed use of proceed

Amount used as of
31 March 2018 (HK$)

Changes and explanations

HZE201853A31H

FRBRARERAR REBAEBE(GERT) EBRAEHE(CERT) SBHRHEHA

Money lending business 126,400,000 241,800,000 Actual usage is larger than

BEES proposed usage to acquire
attractive investment opportunity
through money lending business
EREASESNEBRTELE - A
FREEEBERARS HER
BEe

Proprietary investment 63,200,000 225,811,000 Actual usage is larger than

business proposed usage to acquire

BEASREER attractive investment opportunity
EREASESNBRTELE - A
BRERARS|I NHIRERS

Asset Management business 63,200,000 11,172,000 Actual usage is less than proposed

BETEEL usage as business synergy with
Zhongzhi Capital resulted in cost
saving in investment advisory and
management business
7% B R AR B AN ) 3R 7 175 [R) A FE &R
B TREBAREEEBHKA

Business expansion 63,200,000 63,200,000 No material change from proposed

EBER use
BT RGBEEARY

Total 632,000,000 632,000,000

Bt

As of 31 March 2018, all proceeds from the share subscription

have been used up by the Company.

SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are set out in
note 33 to the consolidated financial statements.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
LISTED SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during

the Year.

HZE2018F3A318 ' RIOREMESHHEDER
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

A report on the principal corporate governance practice adopted
by the Company is set out on pages 42 to 54 of this annual
report.

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING YEAR

On 23 May 2018, the Company had published an announcement
for the transactions as mentioned below. Capitalized terms used
herein shall have the same meaning as those defined in this
announcement:

(A)

(B)

40

(i) the parties to the Alerian Unit Purchase Agreement in
relation to the acquisition of the entire issued and
outstanding unit interest in GKD Index Partners, LLC
(conducting its business under the name “Alerian”) agreed
to terminate the Alerian Unit Purchase Agreement and (ii)
the Company entered into the Ancillary Transactions
(including the Loan Commitment Agreement and the
Omnibus Agreement) with Aretex Capital,

Aretex Alerian Purchaser entered into an agreement with
the Sellers to acquire the equity interests of Alerian (the
“Aretex Alerian Acquisition”) which, among other things,
facilitates the release to the Buyer of the Termination Fee (in
the amount of US$25,000,000) that was deposited by the
Buyer in the Termination Fee Escrow Account pursuant to
the Alerian Unit Purchase Agreement. The Company
understands that the termination of the Alerian Unit
Purchase Agreement, the release of the Termination Fee to
the Buyer, the entering into the agreements for the Ancillary
Transactions and the entering into of the Aretex Alerian
Acquisition by the Sellers will occur simultaneously, and

On 24 May 2018, upon the termination of Alerian Unit
Purchase Agreement, the deposit of US$25,000,000 (net of
legal and professional fees paid) has been released and
returned to the Group.
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Since the Ancillary Transactions are related to each other, the
Ancillary Transactions would need to be aggregated as if they
were one transaction. Since no applicable percentage ratios set
out in Rule 19.07 of the GEM Listing Rules in respect of the
Ancillary Transactions exceed 5%, the Ancillary Transactions are
not discloseable transactions for the purposes of the GEM Listing
Rules, but are disclosed pursuant to Inside Information Provisions
under Part XIVA of the Securities and Future Ordinance (Cap. 571,
Laws of Hong Kong) and Rule 17.10 of the GEM Listing Rules.

Aretex Capital and its affiliates are indirectly controlled by Mr.
Sergio D'Angelo and Mr. Andrew Feller, who are, at the date of
this announcement, directors of ZZ Capital International (UK)
Limited and ZZ Capital International (US) LLC which are
subsidiaries of the Company. However, these subsidiaries are
insignificant subsidiaries of the Company for the purposes of the
GEM Listing Rules. Accordingly, neither Mr. Sergio D'Angelo, Mr.
Andrew Feller, Aretex Capital nor the affiliates of Aretex Capital
are connected persons of the Company pursuant to Rule 20.08 of
the GEM Listing Rules. Accordingly, the Ancillary Transactions do
not constitute connected transactions of the Company under
Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

AUDITOR

The financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
March 2018 have been audited by Messrs. Deloitte Touche
Tohmatsu. Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu was appointed as
the auditor of the Company on 13 October 2017 to fill the causal
vacancy arising from the resignation of PricewaterhouseCoopers,
who was the auditor of the Company for the three preceding
financial years. A resolution for the re-appointment of Messrs.
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as the auditor of the Company is to be
proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

By order of the Board
DUAN Di

Chairman

Hong Kong, 22 June 2018
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company has applied the principles and complied with
all the code provisions set out in the Corporate Governance
Code contained in Appendix 15 of the GEM Listing Rules
(the “CG Code") throughout the Year.

The Board regularly monitors and reviews the Group's
progress in respect of corporate governance practices to
ensure compliance with the code provisions of the CG Code.

SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding
securities transactions by the Directors on terms no less
exacting than the required standard of dealings set out in
Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules. The Company
had made specific enquiries to all the relevant Directors who
confirmed their compliance with the required standard of
dealings and the code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by the Directors throughout the Year. No
incident of non-compliance was noted by the Company
during the Year.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Board composition

The Board is responsible for formulating the overall strategy
and overseeing the development of the Group. In so doing,
the Board receives monthly reports from the CEO, monitors
the internal control policies as well as risk management
effectiveness, and evaluates the financial performance of the
Group with an aim to enhancing shareholders’ value. The
Board currently comprises three executive Directors and
three independent non-executive Directors. The composition
of the Board sets out on page 26 of this annual report.
Biographical details of the Directors and the relationship
amongst them, if any, are set out on pages 15 to 19 of this
annual report.

Seven board meetings were held during the Year. The
composition of the Board and attendances of the relevant
Directors are set out on page 48 of this report.
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Independent Non-executive Directors

In compliance with Rules 5.05(1) and (2), and 5.05A of the
GEM Listing Rules, the Company has appointed three
independent non-executive Directors representing not less
than one-third of the Board with all of them having
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or
related financial management expertise. The Company has,
through the Nomination Committee, reviewed the
independence of, and received an annual confirmation of
independence from each of Mr. Stephen MARKSCHEID, Mr.
ZHANG Weidong and Mr. ZHANG Longgen, and considers
all of them independent in accordance with the guidelines
set out in Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules.

Delegation to Board committees and
management

The Board has the overall responsibility for business
development, leadership, management and control of the
Group and is responsible for promoting the success of the
Group by directing, supervising and monitoring the Group’s
affairs. It has established three committees, namely, the
Remuneration Committee, the Nomination Committee and
the Audit Committee with written terms of reference set out
in accordance with the CG Code. More details of these
committees are set out in separate sections of this report.

The Board delegates necessary powers and authorities to the
executive Directors to facilitate the efficient day to day
management of the Group’s business. Investment decisions
were made by the executive Directors pursuant to the
procedures and limits adopted by the Group. Delegated
authorities in the form of monetary limits were set for the
executive Directors and management of the Group for
financial commitments and capital expenditures so that they
could apply their discretion and respond swiftly to
investment opportunities and business needs.

The Board also delegates certain necessary powers and
authorities to the subsidiary’s board of directors to review
the corporate advisory services while the Board has an
oversight role.

In addition, the Board delegates to the Remuneration
Committee the authority to determine remuneration for
individual executive Directors and members of senior
management.
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Corporate governance functions

The Company is committed to maintaining the highest
standards of corporate governance yet being pragmatic on
business decisions and management efficiency. The
independent non-executive Directors were members, and
represent the majority, of all the Board committees of the
Company, namely, the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee and the Nomination Committee. Whilst the
Board was ultimately responsible for corporate governance
matters, it delegated much of these functions to the Audit
Committee which comprised only of independent non-
executive Directors and was assisted by Baker Tilly (the
“Internal Auditor”) performing the internal audit function.

During the Year, the Board, among other things, reviewed
the relevant procedures and monetary limits delegated to
the executive Directors and management of the Group in
respect of investments, financial commitments and money
lending activities; approved the Group’s updated compliance
manual and policies on corporate governance and internal
controls applicable to Directors, employees and contractors;
reviewed and monitored the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior
management; and reviewed the Company’s compliance
with the CG Code and disclosure in the corporate
governance report.

Continuous Professional Development

Reading materials relevant to the Board's duties and
responsibilities and/or the Group’s businesses are provided
to the Board from time to time to develop, refresh and
update their knowledge and skills and to keep them abreast
of the latest developments.

Each Directors has also provided to the Company a record
of the training he/she has received during the Year, which is
set out on page 48 of this annual report.
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(D) CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

(E)

(F)

Since 12 May 2016, the roles of Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer of the Company are separated.

Ms. DUAN Di is the Chairman of the Company who is
responsible for overseeing the function of the Board. Ms.
ZHANG Yun is the Chief Executive Officer of the Company
who is responsible to the Board for managing the business
of the Group.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The terms of appointment of the Directors who do not hold
any executive role in the Company are for a period of three
years subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the
annual general meeting of the Company pursuant to the
Articles of Association and the GEM Listing Rules.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee was established with written
terms of reference. It currently comprises three member, Ms.
DUAN Di and two independent non-executive Directors
namely, Mr. ZHANG Longgen (Chairman of the
Remuneration Committee) and Mr. ZHANG Weidong. The
primary duties of the Remuneration Committee included,
among other things, (i) formulating, reviewing and making
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration policy
and structure for all Directors and members of senior
management; (ii) reviewing and approving the
management’s remuneration proposals with reference to
the Board's corporate goals and objectives; (iii) determining
the remuneration packages of individual executive Directors
and members of senior management; and (iv) making
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of non-
executive Directors. The Remuneration Committee held four
meetings during the Year.

During the Year, the Remuneration Committee reviewed the
Group’s remuneration policy and structure and determined
the remuneration packages of individual executive Directors
and senior management having regard to comparable
companies and other relevant factors as advised by
professional human resources consultancy firm.
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The remuneration payable to members of the senior
management during the Year fell within the following
bands:

BREBAERFENFTHNFRUATE
:

Number of

Senior Management

SREEE A

Nil to HK$5,000,000 £ % 5,000,000 7T =
HK$5,000,001 to HK$10,000,000 5,000,001 7T = 10,000,000 7T 2
2

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee was established with written
terms of reference. It currently comprises three members,
Ms. DUAN Di (Chairmen of the Nomination Committee) and
two independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr.
Stephen MARKSCHEID and Mr. ZHANG Weidong. The
primary duties of the Nomination Committee covered,
among other things, (i) the reviewing of the structure, size
and composition (including the skills, knowledge, experience
and diversity of perspectives) of the Board; (ii) identifying
and nominating suitably qualified candidates for
directorship; and (iii) making recommendations to the Board
on the appointment or reappointment of Directors. The
Nomination Committee held one meeting during the Year.

During the Year, the Nomination Committee reviewed the
established policy and procedure for the nomination and
appointment of new Directors, assessed the independence
of the independent non-executive Directors and made
recommendations to the Board on the reappointment of
retiring Directors.

In respect of the policy concerning Board diversity, the
Nomination Committee would take into account of the
Group’s business model as promulgated by its controlling
shareholders, and consider, among other things, the
educational background, professional and business
experience, profile, gender and age diversity of the Board as
well as the suitability for the businesses of the Group in its
selection of candidates.
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(H) AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee was established with written terms of
reference. It currently comprises three independent non-
executive Directors namely, Mr. Stephen MARKSCHEID
(Chairman of the Audit Committee), Mr. ZHANG Longgen
and Mr. ZHANG Weidong in compliance with Rules 5.28
and 5.29 of the GEM Listing Rules. The primary duties of the
Audit Committee include, among other things, (i) reviewing
and supervising the financial reporting process; (i) reviewing
internal control as well as risk management systems of the
Group; (iii) reviewing the consolidated financial statements
and the quarterly, interim and annual reports of the Group;
and (iv) reviewing the terms of engagement and scope of
audit work of the internal auditor and external auditor and
ensure their coordination. The Audit Committee held four
meetings during the Year.

During the Year, the Audit Committee was engaged in,
among other duties, receiving and reviewing reports from
the Internal Auditor, reviewing quarterly, interim and annual
results of the Group and providing advice and comments
thereon to the Board. The Audit Committee also reviewed
the Group’s internal control and risk management systems
and made recommendations to the Board for improvements.
The Audit Committee considered and approved the terms of
engagement and remuneration of the Internal Auditor and
external auditor, and discussed with them the nature and
scope of their audits before the audits commenced. In
discharging its duties, the Audit Committee met with the
Group’s management, Internal Auditor and external auditor
several times during the Year.

At the meeting held in June 2018, among other things, the
Audit Committee has reviewed this annual report and
recommended it for the Board’s approval.

2017/18 Annual Report 4 #

Corporate Governance Report
BB IR HRE

(H) EREER

RARAREKIEZEEG WO EMTAA
BESHE BEREZESRABEUBEIHE
¥}, 1T & = Stephen MARKSCHEID 7€ 4 (E 4%
ZEEXR) REREERKRERLE -
FEGEM EMRAIE 5281 M E529182
HE BREESNEIEZRELE(EFR
) ()i et R BE R BT IS IE IRAR T ¢ (i) AT AR
SEADEERRBREESE  (HNFEHAX
SENGEUBBREARETE - PHEFE
s DA R (v) AR B A B3P AR BAm K o) ED AR L
MEEAGRREERTESE - LR
W ITESRHA  BEZEEENAFERT

THRE -

RAFE  BEZZE8 (HTBRERRE) &K
RERAIZBERE  FHAKENT
B hHRFEXEYRHAESSRHEE
BZLER - BRZBETRIAEENAE
ERRERERGE  YREESRHENE
2 - EREZEeZ B REN R REE &
SMER R BB YRS RGN SR BB - SRR T
1 5 46 A pL B AR 1 N 0 B IR AL PI A LH 5T
o REITHRE  BELZESHEAKEN
BIRE - MEMZERED RO B BB IS AN 2
BITTEREH -

R2018F6 ARITHEZH L BREMSEE
Hh BREZESCEMAERIEZREES
HEAE o

47



77 CAPITAL INTERNATIONAL LIMITED H 5 % Z< 5 B2 A PR A #]

Corporate Governance Report
e =gk e
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During the Year, the attendance records of the Directors at
Board Meetings, Audit Committee Meetings, Remuneration
Committee Meetings, Nomination Committee Meetings and
the 2017 Annual General Meeting, and their training
records are as follows:

Number of meetings attended/held

B/ BEERE
2017
Audit Remuneration  Nomination Annual
Board Committee Committee Committee General
Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Training
M #H R’% 0178
Name of Directors during the Year 31 ZE% ZE% ZE% BRREF
REEESHA EE ) ) ] xg b
Executive Directors: HTEE .
Ms. DUAN Di* Rt m - 44 N n v
Ms. ZHANG Yun* FELL* m - - - o v
Mr. CHEN Jianfeng Peter RelggE m - - - N v
Mr. CHO Michael Min-kuk HEEL
(resigned on 15 February 2018) (R2018F2 A 15 AEHE) n - - - N v
Independent Non-executive BUFATES
Directors:
Mr. Stephen MARKSCHEID Stephen MARKSCHEID %
(appointed on 18 June 2016) (R2016F6 A18HEZAT) n 414 - N N v
Mr. ZHANG Weidong REREE
(appointed on 5 July 2016) (R20165F7 A5 HEZ) m 44 44 N N v
Mr. ZHANG Longgen REREE
(appointed on 4 January 2018) (R2018F 1 R4 REZ) N N N - - v
Mr. Edouard MERETTE Edouard MERETTE £
(resigned on 4 January 2018) (R2018% 1 A4 REH) 66 33 33 & n v/
* some of which attended by their proxies

BOERARTERRLE



(J) RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL

CONTROL

The Group places high importance on internal control which
is the foundation of the Group's reputation and
maintenance of clients’ confidence. The Board is responsible
for maintaining a sound and effective internal control system
in order to safeguard the interests of the shareholders of the
Company and the assets of the Group against improper use
or disposition, ensuring maintenance of proper books and
records for the provision of reliable financial information,
and ensuring compliance with relevant rules and regulations.
The Board has delegated responsibility to its Audit
Committee to review the Group’s risk management and
internal control matters. The risk management and internal
control systems are designed to manage rather than
eliminate risks of failure in operational systems so that the
Group's objectives can be achieved, and can only provide
reasonable and not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss.

The Audit Committee was assisted by the Internal Auditor,
to assess and review if a sound and effective risk
management and internal control system are in place at
least once a year. The Internal Auditor reported to and
regularly met with the Audit Committee to review internal
audit findings on enterprise risk and internal control matters.

Risk management system

Based on the Group’s business and operations, Internal
Auditor, using risk-based approach, has identified and
carried out review on four areas covering financial,
operational, strategies and compliance.

The process used by the Internal Auditor comprises the
following phases:

o Identification: understand business objectives, identify
risks that could affect the achievement of objectives,
and the ownership of risks.

° Evaluation: analyze the likelihood and impact of risks
and evaluate the risk portfolio accordingly.
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. Management: consider the risk responses, ensure
effective communication to the Audit Committee and
on-going monitor the residual risks.

Based on the report done by the Internal Auditor, no
significant risk was identified during the Year.

Internal control system

The Group has set up an effective internal control
mechanism which are sufficient to enable the Directors to
make a proper assessment of the financial position and
prospect of the Group.

Internal Auditor has conducted a review of the Group’s
internal control system by conducting interviews,
walkthroughs and tests on the effectiveness of the
procedures, systems and controls established by the Group
in its operating cycles, in particular, revenue and receipt
cycle, treasury management cycle and compliance
management cycle.

With respect to the internal control review done by the
Internal Auditor, no major issues on control failure is noted
during the Year.

As of the time of annual report is composed, there is no risk
incident of any kind that have caused direct financial losses
to the Group due to control failure. Hence, the Board has
conducted a review and is of the view that both risk
management and internal control systems are effective and
adequate for the Group to achieve its objectives during the
Year. The Board will continue to assess the effectiveness of
the risk management and internal control systems taking
into consideration of the results of reviews and audits
performed by the Internal Auditor, external auditor and
Audit Committee and making sure that all significant legal
and regulatory requirements are adhered to.
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Dissemination of inside information

In order to enhance the Group’s system of handling inside
information and enable a consistent practice of timely,
accurate and complete disclosure of material information of
the Group, the Group has adopted policies and procedures
which sets out guidelines and procedures as well as
measures to handle and disseminate inside information.
With these procedures and measures in place, the Group is
able to control and properly discharge its reporting
obligation, especially in relation to inside information
disclosure obligations, in a timely and effective manner and
in accordance with the requirements under applicable laws.

AUDITOR’'S REMUNERATION

During the Year, the remuneration in respect of audit and
non-audit services provided by the Company’s external
auditor were approximately HK$1.82 million and HK$3.08
million respectively. The non-audit services were related to
the professional fees for investment due diligence services
HK$2.04 million, tax compliance HK$0.04 million and tax
consulting services HK$1.00 million.

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR’S
RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements which
give a true and fair view in accordance with the Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. The statement of the Company’s auditor about
its reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial
statements is set out in the “Independent Auditor’s Report”
on pages 55 to 61 of this annual report.

(M) COMPANY SECRETARY

During the Year, Ms. CHAN Sau Mui Juanna, the Company
Secretary, undertook no less than fifteen hours of relevant
professional training to update her knowledge and skills.
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CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There was no change in the Company’s constitutional
documents during the Year.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Convening of extraordinary general meeting
and putting forward proposals

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, any two or more
registered members of the Company (the “Shareholders”)
or any one Shareholder which is a recognised clearing house
(or its nominee(s)) holding not less than one-tenth of the
paid up capital of the Company which carries the right of
voting at general meetings of the Company, shall have the
right, by written requisitions, to put forward proposals and
require an extraordinary general meeting (the “EGM") to be
convened. Subject to applicable legislations and regulations,
the procedures for Shareholders to convene and put forward
proposals at an EGM are as follows:

1. The written requisitions shall be deposited at the
principal office of the Company in Hong Kong situated
at Suite 5801, Cheung Kong Center, 2 Queen’s Road
Central, Hong Kong (for the attention of the Company
Secretary), specifying the objects of the meeting and
signed by the requisitionists.

2. The Company will then verify the request with the
Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong and
upon its confirmation that the request is proper and in
order, the Company Secretary will then ask the Board
to convene an EGM by serving sufficient notice in
accordance with the regulatory requirements and the
Articles of Association to all the Shareholders. If the
request has been verified as not in order, the
Shareholders concerned will be advised of the
outcome and an EGM will not be convened as
requested.
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3. If within 21 days from the date of deposit of the
requisition, the Board fails to proceed to convene the
meeting to be held within a further 21 days, the
requisitionist(s) themselves or any of them
representing more than one-half of the total voting
rights of all of them, may convene the general
meeting but any meeting so convened shall not be
held after the expiration of three months from the
date of deposit of the requisition, and all reasonable
expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of
the failure of the Board to convene the meeting shall
be reimbursed to them by the Company.

Proposing a person for election as a Director

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, no person shall,
unless recommended by the Board, be eligible for election
to the office of Director at any general meeting unless
during the period, which shall be at least seven days,
commencing no earlier than the day after the despatch of
the notice of the meeting appointed for such election and
ending no later than seven days prior to the date of such
meeting, there has been given to the Company Secretary
notice in writing by a Shareholder (not being the person to
be proposed), entitled to attend and vote at the meeting for
which such notice is given, of his/her intention to propose
such person for election and also notice in writing signed by
the person to be proposed of his/her willingness to be
elected.

The written notice must state the full name of the person to
be proposed for election as a Director, as well as the
person’s biographical details as required by Rule 17.50(2) of
the GEM Listing Rules. Upon receipt of the notice, the
Company will assess whether or not it is necessary to
adjourn the meeting of the election to give Shareholders at
least 10 business days to consider the proposed
appointment.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company is committed to maintaining a high level of
transparency and employs a policy of open and timely
disclosure of relevant information to its Shareholders. The
Board strives to encourage and maintain regular
communication with Shareholders through various means.
The Company encourages all Shareholders to attend general
meetings, which provide opportunities for direct dialogue
between the Board and the Shareholders, and for
Shareholders to stay informed of the Group’s strategy and
goals.

At the annual general meeting held 10 August 2017, the
Chairman, the ex-Chief Executive Officer, the Chief Financial
Officer, the chairman of each of Audit, Remuneration and
Nomination Committees and representatives from
PricewaterhouseCoopers were present to attend to possible
questions from Shareholders.

The Company updates its Shareholders on its latest business
developments and financial performance through its notices,
announcements and circulars, as well as quarterly, interim
and annual reports. The corporate website maintained by
the Company at www.zzcapitalinternational.com provides
an effective communication platform to the public and the
Shareholders. The Company is also in discussion with public
relations consultants with a view to engaging a professional
firm to enhance dialogue and communication with
Shareholders and investors. Shareholders and investors may
at any time send their enquiries to the Board by addressing
them to the Company Secretary by post at Suite 5801,
Cheung Kong Center, 2 Queen’s Road Central, Hong Kong
or by email at infohk@zzcapitalinternational.com.

(P) REEME
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Deloitte.

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
ZZ CAPITAL INTERNATIONAL LIMITED
FHEERBERARAR

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)
OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of ZZ
Capital International Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as “the Group”) set out on pages 62 to
143, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 March 2018, and the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated
statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of
cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated
financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group
as at 31 March 2018, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA™) and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the
Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

BFARET SR

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional FiEET=THERIERMINEZEHE R AEERK
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the HGAMBEBRERNBASZAETENSTH ELE
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These TERERMBFTBEEESUBEHREAMEAEEZRF
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the #TERIEH - BRI S ¥ ELFHIEHEBNE
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our &,

opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on

these matters.

Key audit matter

RRETEE

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BMNENAEERARENSE

Revenue recognition in relation to investment advisory and management (“IAM”) income

BEHREFAREE ([REZAREE ) WA KK a8 R

We identified revenue recognition in relation to 1AM
income as a key audit matter due to its significance to the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

BT AEBREDANEBRANKEERSBRE
FERE REARHUGABRRRAMEZENRRREEX

By 488
R o

As set out in note 6 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group earned IAM income of
approximately HK$230 million from its intermediate
holding company for the year ended 31 March 2018
representing over 93% of the total revenues of the
Group.

AR A B SRR 6 PIEL - EIE 201853 A31 HIE
FE  AEEBHEBEERABRIUREHANERR
A #7230,000,000/ 70 - Z& I A KB E K= BEB
93% -

IAM income is recognised in the accounting period in
which the services are rendered and all relevant conditions
have been fulfilled in accordance with the terms of the
agreement or mandate. Details of the revenue recognition
policy are set out in note 3 to the consolidated financial
statements.
KREZAREBWAERHRBN G EHERER - WA
FrERBRG I ERBHRIGERIIRERTT - MR
HER BB N RS IR MFES ©
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Our procedures in relation to revenue recognition of 1AM
income included:

BERREFANEERANKEERZIRFEIE

° understanding and evaluating the controls over the
recognition of IAM income;

o THRFEHERREENRERLAGHEH

o obtaining the signed agreements and evaluating
management assessment on criteria of recognition of
the IAM income by reference to the agreements;

o EHMERFNWZE U2RBET(LEEEHRERR
BREAREBRANTERE

° recomputing the performance fees recognised based
on the agreements, and tracing to the invoices and
correspondence with the intermediate holding

company;
o RipREFTEEBRORREWESHEZERA A
EOEEE YNSRI

3 recomputing the management fees recognised and
agreeing the details to the signed agreements;
o EBHFECHIANERBIRRLEZHANFE
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

ERESTEER @)

Key audit matter (Continued)
BRETEE(E)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BMNESNAEEARENSE

Revenue recognition in relation to investment advisory and management (“IAM”) income (Continued)

BEHREZAREE ([REZAREE ) WA 19K a5 2 ()

o checking subsequent settlement of the IAM fees
recognised during the year ended 31 March 2018; and

e  ZHEBZE2018F3A31NALFEECERNREARA
REBEBENREREE X

° arranging confirmation of the fees income for the year
with the intermediate holding company.

o LHERZRZERARERFAERUA -

Classification and fair value measurement of convertible loan receivable designated at fair value through

profit and loss (“FVTPL")

HEEE N FERERRIR ([ZAFERRZZSK])ERTRRES N7 ER L FETE

We identified the classification and fair value
measurement of a convertible loan receivable designated
at FVTPL as a key audit matter due to its significance to
the consolidated statement of financial position and
management judgement exercised in determining the
classification of such convertible loan receivable due to
the potential voting rights existed as at 31 March 2018 as
set out in note 4 and selecting an appropriate valuation
technique and key inputs used to determine the fair value
of the convertible loan receivable. As set out in note 14
to the consolidated financial statements, the fair value of
the convertible loan receivable as at 31 March 2018 is
approximately HK$249,405,000, representing over
24.7% of the total assets of the Group.
BMEEREEATFERBERRIIRN KRR SR
WOBER AT EFERBRESFTE  WHHNEHER
SMBARRERTMEBEARBENEEREEN 20184 3
R 31 BT (M 4FE) - B 1R8N EE TE 2 B UL AT
BARE TR E) D FERF VR # BT ROE 28 8 B B R 2
R2BANETRKATRBRERN A TE - NERETH
HRERME14FTEL - 20183 A31H - BKATRKRE
KEAF{EAH249,4050008 T - dBE BEEELE
EM247% A £ o

Our procedures in relation to classification and fair value
measurement of convertible loan receivable designated at
FVTPL included:
BRETRAFERERRIIRNE KRR E RN S8R
RAFEIEZIZF O -

o understanding and evaluating the controls over the
classification and valuation of the convertible loan
receivable designated at FVTPL;

o THRRIMEHETERATERERRYIRNE WA SR
IREFE 538 R A E TR

o obtaining the signed agreements and analysing the
terms in the agreements;

. BEEEBNBERANGRER

° evaluating the entity’s assessment on the classification
of such convertible loan receivable;
e  FHMEERHUZEWATRBREFRDENTE

° obtaining an understanding of the entity’s valuation
process in selecting valuation techniques and adopting

key inputs;
o  THRERNMHEBRETEENMGERNRIKAOERE
24

° evaluating the independent professional valuer’s
competence, capabilities and objectivity;

o FHMEBUBXRMEMOREE  EORFEIN
57
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Key audit matter (Continued)
BREHBEE)

The fair value of the convertible loan receivable was ®
estimated by the management based on binomial option
pricing model, using the significant observable inputs of
expected volatility and discount rate. The Group had
engaged an independent professional valuer to perform
such valuation. The details of the fair value measurement
are set out in note 31 to the consolidated financial ®
statements.

AR ER AFETREEEER B EE
BRENX EARENEANABEE2B LR EELHMA o
P BEEECRFBAUEXRGEMETHAMLE - 2T

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EMNETNAEEZRRENSE

engaging our internal valuation expert to evaluate the
appropriateness of the valuation technique adopted
and check its mathematical accuracy; and
EFHANAEEERTEARANGERTTNE
HEWins EBEERN &

evaluating the significant unobservable inputs in the
binomial option pricing model, including expected
volatility and discount rate.

A —IEA R BERATHNERTABR2E - &
AR MBI X -

B ENFITEN RS MHERERMES -
OTHER MATTER

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 March 2017 were audited by another auditor who
expressed an unqualified opinion on those statements on 14 June
2017.

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing
to report in this regard.

58

Hftb =18

BEEHZE2017F3 A31 B IEFEWNEA SR
KA EMZEAIE - ERX2017F6 41484
ZERREREREER -

Hft 58
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group's financial reporting process.

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a
body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or
accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

EENREEEARGEUKBRRE
AENEE

BRAERRAERBEEESHMASEMN(E
BB EEA) REBCRFHESD) M RERE
REEEMTENEAMBEERE  YHERSR
EERE VB RROBE TN FER R RIFRERM
BRNEAHERRAMTOAIZEFHEE

EREFEMBHRRE EFRANHERER
BREMEN  YEERABRATHERFELE
BRMEE  UREAFECERSTER K
HEZFEREERFRAFILEE  HHEH
ERNBERITER

il

RERBAARBREEESRENMBREBIE -
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ZAWER  ERBEZEHBERKE RN
BEREBEO T FERRAGFERMERME
RERFPUARMBAERE - YAEA T (EREBE)
HEBSRBMERMZBENRE - BRIt 2N
ERIEEME N - RATERARENARTRE
MEMALTE FXAREAEE - e BRERS
IKFHRE - ETRERERB(EBRERD #
TTHEET - AR —EAERRAFER BREER -
SARRPR AL AT LA R ARGF Sk ER R 5 - AR A IETAH
EMEBLERERA LT EFREVBHRERER
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT KBB4 BRRAENS
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL &)

STATEMENTS (Continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise ERE(E BRI ER)ETETHBED - &M
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism B T E 2 HIBT - [R5 T B IEEREE - BT

throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the o
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud
is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the o
audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s
internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used e
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the o
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future
events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of e
the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to
bear on our independence, and where applicable, related
safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when,
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent
auditor’s report is Chan Ka Sing.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

22 June 2018
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

f 7 TR AR B Lt % T WA 4 3

For the year ended 31 March 2018

HE 201853 H31 HIFFE

2018 2017 F
Notes HK$’000 HK$°000
Htat FET FHEIT
Revenue N 6 246,447 213,695
Net investment income (loss) WEWA (BE) F5E 6 6,275 21
Interest income FEHA 6 1,022 2,789
Other income and net gains (losses) HEU A KU ss (B8 ) $%58 6 2,318 (96)
Revenue and other income W A K E A U A 6 256,062 216,367
Operating expenses KR (229,240) (148,495)
Profit before tax BREE AR R 26,822 67,872
Income tax (expense) credit Frist (Ax)Ex % (6,020) 11,310
Profit for the year FREF 8 20,802 79,182
Other comprehensive loss: Hith 2 EEE :
ltems that may be subsequently HiEnfeET oA AIESE
reclassified to profit or loss: ZIHER
Exchange differences arising on HBEGINEFS E L E
translation of foreign operations HER (2,631) —
Total comprehensive income FREEBALE
for the year 18,171 79,182
Earnings per share attributable to AATEE AEWN
owners of the Company SRER
— Basic (HK cents) — EARCGEW) 12 0.59 2.23
— Diluted (HK cents) — E@5E OB 12 0.59 223
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At 31 March 2018 JA20184F3H 31 H

2018 & 20174
Notes HK$’000 HK$°000
et FET FHEIT
Non-current assets FkRBEE
Plant and equipment 5 Kk 13 10,030 1,992
Convertible loan receivable EEABEATFER
designated at fair value through profit BuRIE(EA
or loss (“FVTPL") FEREBERERYIEK])
B FE M TR AR B K 14 249,405 —
Deposits T 15 207,581 36,083
Available-for-sale (“AFS”) investment AHHERE 19 14,694 —
Total non-current assets EMBEELTE 481,710 38,075
Current assets REBEE
Trade receivables Z 5 W GIE 16 233,072 8,266
Other assets and receivables Hfih & &= K e W skE 17 43,254 7,946
Held for trading investments RHIEEERE 18 5,903 115
Prepaid tax FEA LR 1,374 1,238
Cash held on behalf of clients REFIFEEZRS 20 2 217
Bank balances and cash IRITEB LIRS 21 245,260 964,281
Total current assets BNV EBRE 528,865 982,063
Current liabilities FEBEE
Trade payables B S ER A 22 2 403
Other payables and accruals HEME A RERER 23 14,240 47,194
Amount due to an intermediate holding  FE{ REHE 2 IR A 7]
company EE| 32(d) — 272
Tax payable FEf 718 5,919 26
Total current liabilities TmEAEERsE 20,161 47,895
Net current assets RBEEFE 508,704 934,168
Net assets EEFE 990,414 972,243
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i B BB SR L

At 31 March 2018 JA20184F3H 31 H

2018 & 2017 F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
BaE FET FET
Equity s
Equity attributable to owners of the PAN/NETEZ ¥ = DN Y e}
Company S
Share capital B2 24 35,505 35,505
Reserves i 954,909 936,738
Total equity XA 990,414 972,243

The consolidated financial statements on pages 62 to 143 were  $62 BE % 143 B MEMEAN 201846 A22
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directorson 22 AR EEE&# /ERBFETIZE - YHUTRERE

June 2018 and are signed on its behalf by: Eo
ZHANG Yun CHEN Jianfeng Peter
5| PR &1 $2
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
EF BE
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For the year ended 31 March 2018 HE20184F3 A 31 H IFFF

Share Share Contributed Translation  Retained
capital  premium surplus reserve profits Total
RE  ROEE SABR RBRERE KDER @t
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
FET FET FET FET FET FET
(Note 1) (Note 2)
(Hat1)  (BaE2)

At 1 April 2016 R2016F4A1H 35,505 706,245 9,000 — 142,311 893,061
Profit and total comprehensive  EREFR2E

income for the year WA = — — — 79,182 79,182
At 31 March 2017 R2017F3A31H 35,505 706,245 9,000 — 221,493 972,243
Profit for the year ERRA = — — — 20,802 20,802
Other comprehensive loss for FREMZAEER

the year — — — (2,631) — (2,631)

Total comprehensive (loss) income  FRZE (E1E)
for the year LN x| = = = (2,631) 20,802 18,171

At 31 March 2018 201843 A31H 35,505 706,245 9,000 (2,631) 242,295 990,414

Note 1: The Group’s share premium represents the proceeds received from share  Afat 1 @ AEBR7E BN T 2 EFE IR TMEE
issuance, net of any directly attributable transaction costs credited to share BERSEA) - 195 AR R, /SR mEF -
capital and/or share premium.

Note 2: The Group's contributed surplus represents the excess of the nominal value 2 : AREBMMYABBIEN EHATEEEHEWENWERQ
of the shares of the subsidiaries acquired pursuant to the reorganisation ARG EERBLIEETRIRMBEBITHARQRRG
prior to the listing, over the nominal value of the Company’s shares issued HEEMEZE -
in exchange thereafter.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

A Bemak

HE 201853 H31 HIFFE

For the year ended 31 March 2018

2018 2017 F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Bfat FET FET
OPERATING ACTIVITIES REE
Profit before tax BR A5 B A 26,822 67,872
Adjustments for: MATHIREL A
Interest income B A 6 (1,022) (2,789)
Loss on disposal of plant and equipment  HEKE &R EHEE = 124
Loss on disposal of a subsidiary HENRBARMERER 32(b) = 341
Depreciation e 13 2,308 1,188
Net reversal of impairment loss on trade [0 % 5 & W 718 KRB
receivables B8 %58 16 — (791)
Impairment on plant and equipment R N iR RE 13 — 319
Fair value loss on held for trading RIEEERENATE
investments, net 18558 6 772 25
Fair value gain on convertible loan EEAEAFEREBERE
receivable designated at FVTPL 2| BR ) FE L AT 4R R B K
KA E S 6 (7,047) =
Operating cash flows before movements @& & FRINL LIRS
in working capital mE 21,833 66,289
Increase in held for trading investments EEEERERIEMN (6,560) -
Increase in deposits ZeEm (2,452) (35,983)
(Increase) decrease in trade receivables B 5 e FaE (3 hn) > (224,806) 121,464
Decrease (increase) in other assets and H B E N E UG IR R
receivables (3 hn) 410 (5,927)
Decrease (increase) in cash held on behalf REFE#FEZIREH L
of clients (3% h0) 215 )
Decrease in trade payables B SN FIRRL (401) (237)
(Decrease) increase in other payables and — E Ath {5 7018 & fE =1 &
accruals R 5 (36,017) 31,312
Increase in amount due to an intermediate J& < 12 R% A B 3KIE
holding company 0 = 272
Cash (used in) generated from operations  4¢ & %% (FTFR) AT & (247,778) 177,188
Profits tax paid ERFIEH (263) (2,930)
NET CASH (USED IN) FROM OPERATING IR (BT ) T8R4
ACTIVITIES FEE (248,041) 174,258
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2018 & 2017 F
Notes HK$°000 HK$°000
Btat FET FET
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REEE
Purchase of plant and equipment BEMENE 13 (9,884) (2,142)
Proceeds from disposal of a subsidiary HEKB AR FTSRIA 32(b) — 520
Proceeds from the disposal of plantand & ME k& & 1S58
equipment = 1,000
Interest received BUF & 1,022 2,789
Withdrawal of time deposits with original 2BV B AR REE A Z R
maturity of more than three months ={EANTEEFER
when acquired 21 74,339 43,729
Purchase of AFS investments BEHEERE 19 (14,694) —
Advance for a convertible loan receivable 15TE AiZ A FERIER KT
designated at FVTPL ARV FE W RTHR IR & R 2 A+
o 14 (242,358) —
Deposit for proposed acquisition of a
subsidiary BB B A RNES 15 (205,214) —
Repayment of amount due to an EEEN—REEEER AR
intermediate holding company H)FRIE (272) =
NET CASH (USED IN) FROM INVESTING EEH (FTA)BREE
ACTIVITIES REE (397.061) 45,896
NET (DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH AND 4 RIESZEY Cf )
CASH EQUIVALENTS HFEEE (645,102) 220,154
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE FYIRERIREEEY
BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 889,942 669,788
Effect of exchange rates changes on the  [E R B B) ¥ A SN ER B B3R
bank balances and cash held in foreign THEHBERe 2 HE
currencies 420 —
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE £ XRIRE KBS FEY
END OF THE YEAR 245,260 889,942
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH AND 34 RIR& SEBWEB DT
CASH EQUIVALENTS
Bank balances and cash RITEHR AR 21 156,416 545,007
Time deposits T B 21 88,844 419,274
Bank balances and cash as stated in the 4R & B FSRIR R P A AR
consolidated statement of financial TEBEIES
position ol 245,260 964,281
Time deposits with original maturity of REARRIHAZR =
more than three months when acquired A& EHAITE X 21 — (74,339)
Cash and cash equivalents as stated in the 4&IREREXRTAED
consolidated statement of cash flows BENIBEEEY 245,260 889,942
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GENERAL

77 Capital International Limited is a limited liability company
incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted
company with limited liability under the Companies Law,
Cap 22 (Law 3 of 1961 as consolidated and revised) of the
Cayman Islands. The registered address and principal place
of business of the Company is P.O. Box 309, Ugland House,
Grand Cayman, KY1-1104, Cayman Islands and Suite 5801,
Cheung Kong Center, 2 Queen’s Road Central, Hong Kong
respectively. The shares of the Company have been listed on
the GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) (the “Listing”).

As at 31 March 2018, the directors considered that the
Company’s immediate holding company was Jinhui Capital
Company Limited and the Company’s ultimate holding
company was FFRE (JbR)EAEE AR A A (Zhonghai
Sheng Feng (Beijing) Capital Management Company
Limited*). The Company’s ultimate controlling party is Mr.
Xie Zhikun.

The principal activity of the Company is investments holding.
Its subsidiaries (together with the Company collectively
referred to as the “Group”) are principally engaged in
investment holding, provision of corporate advisory services,
investment advisory and asset management services.

The functional and presentation currency of the Company is
Hong Kong Dollars (“HKD").

* For identification purpose only

HE 201853 H31 HIFFE
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")

Amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year

The Group has applied the following amendments to
HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA") for the first time in the current
year:

Amendments to Disclosure Initiative

HKAS 7
Amendments to Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets
HKAS 12 for Unrealised Losses
Amendments to As part of the Annual Improvements
HKFRS 12 to HKFRSs 2014 — 2016 Cycle

The application of the amendments to HKFRSs in the current
year has had no material impact on the Group'’s financial
performance and positions for the current and prior years
and/or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated
financial statements.

New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
revised HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet
effective:

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments’

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers and the related
Amendments’

HKFRS 16 Leases?

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts*

HK(IFRIC) — Int 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and

Advance Consideration’

2.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet

effective (Continued)

HK(IFRIC) — Int 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax
Treatments?

Classification and Measurement of
Share-based Payment
Transactions'

Applying HKFRS 9 Financial
Instruments with HKFRS 4
Insurance Contracts'

Amendments to
HKFRS 2

Amendments to
HKFRS 4

Amendments to Prepayment Features with Negative
HKFRS 9 Compensation?
Amendments to HKFRS Sale or Contribution of Assets
10 and HKAS 28 between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture®

Amendments to Plan Amendment, Curtailment or

HKAS 19 Settlement?

Amendments to Long-term Interests in Associates
HKAS 28 and Joint Ventures?

Amendments to As part of the Annual Improvements
HKAS 28 to HKFRSs 2014 — 2016 Cycle'

Amendments to Transfers of Investment Property’

HKAS 40
Amendments to Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
HKFRSs 2015 - 2017 Cycle?

L Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018

a Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019

8 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined

& Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021

Except as described below, the directors of the Company
anticipate that the application of all other new and
amendments to HKFRSs and interpretations will have no
material impact on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements in the foreseeable future.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments

HKFRS 9 introduces new requirements for the classification
and measurement of financial assets, financial liabilities,
general hedge accounting and impairment requirements for
financial assets.

Key requirements of HKFRS 9 which are relevant to the
Group are:

o all recognised financial assets that are within the scope
of HKFRS 9 are required to be subsequently measured
at amortised cost or fair value. Specifically, debt
investments that are held within a business model
whose objective is to collect the contractual cash
flows, and that have contractual cash flows that are
solely payments of principal and interest on the
principal outstanding (“SPPI”) are generally measured
at amortised cost at the end of subsequent accounting
periods. Debt instruments that are held within a
business model whose objective is achieved both by
collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial
assets, and that have contractual terms that give rise
on specified dates to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding, are generally measured at fair
value through other comprehensive income
("FVTOCI"). All other financial assets are measured at
their fair values at subsequent accounting periods. In
addition, under HKFRS 9, entities may make an
irrevocable election to present subsequent changes in
the fair value of an equity investment (that is not held
for trading) in other comprehensive income, with only
dividend income generally recognised in profit or loss.

2.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (Continued)

° in relation to the impairment of financial assets, HKFRS
9 requires an expected credit loss model, as opposed
to an incurred credit loss model under HKAS 39. The
expected credit loss model requires an entity to
account for expected credit losses and changes in
those expected credit losses at each reporting date to
reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition. In
other words, it is no longer necessary for a credit
event to have occurred before credit losses are
recognised.

Based on the Group's financial instruments as at 31 March
2018, the directors of the Company anticipate the following
potential impact on initial application of HKFRS 9:

Classification and measurement:

° Financial assets classified as loans and receivables
carried at amortised cost as disclosed in Note 30: these
are held within a business model whose objective is to
collect the contractual cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the principal
outstanding. Accordingly, these financial assets will
continue to be subsequently measured at amortised
cost upon the application of HKFRS 9;

° Equity securities classified as available-for-sale
investments carried at cost less impairment as
disclosed in Note 19: these securities qualify for
designation as measured at FVTOCI under HKFRS 9
and the Group will measure these securities at fair
value at the end of subsequent reporting periods with
fair value gains or losses to be recognised as other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the
investment revaluation reserve. Upon initial application
of HKFRS 9, the fair value change relating to these
securities would be adjusted to investment revaluation
reserve as at 1 April 2018;

HE 201853 H31 HIFFE
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (Continued)

o Financial assets designated as at FVTPL as disclosed in
Note 14: these financial assets do not contain
contractual terms giving rise to cash flows that are
solely payments of principal and interest on the
principal outstanding. The Group will revoke the FVTPL
designation but will continue to measure these
financial assets at fair value upon the application of
HKFRS 9 with fair value gains or losses recognised in
profit or loss; and

° All other financial assets and financial liabilities will
continue to be measured on the same bases as are
currently measured under HKAS 39.

Impairment

In general, the directors of the Company anticipate that the
application of the expected credit loss model of HKFRS 9 will
result in earlier provision of credit losses which are not yet
incurred in relation to the Group's financial assets measured
at amortised cost and other items that are subject to the
impairment provisions upon application of HKFRS 9 by the
Group.

Based on the assessment by the directors of the Company, if
the expected credit loss model were to be applied by the
Group, the accumulated amount of impairment loss to be
recognised by the Group as at 1 January 2018 would not be
significantly different from that under HKAS 39.

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers

HKFRS 15 was issued which establishes a single
comprehensive model for entities to use in accounting for
revenue arising from contracts with customers. HKFRS 15
will supersede the current revenue recognition guidance
including HKAS 18 Revenue, HKAS 11 Construction
Contracts and the related interpretations when it becomes
effective.

f 3 S8 205 A B
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers (Continued)

The core principle of HKFRS 15 is that an entity should
recognise revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods
or services to customers in an amount that reflects the
consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in
exchange for those goods or services. Specifically, the
standard introduces a 5-step approach to revenue
recognition:

. Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer

o Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the
contract

° Step 3: Determine the transaction price

o Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the
performance obligations in the contract

o Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity
satisfies a performance obligation

Under HKFRS 15, an entity recognises revenue when (or as)
a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when ’control” of
the goods or services underlying the particular performance
obligation is transferred to the customer. Far more
prescriptive guidance has been added in HKFRS 15 to deal
with specific scenarios. Furthermore, extensive disclosures
are required by HKFRS 15.

In 2016, the HKICPA issued clarifications to HKFRS 15 in
relation to the identification of performance obligations,
principal versus agent considerations, as well as licensing
application guidance.

The application of HKFRS 15 in the future may result in
more disclosures but will not have any impact on the timing
and amounts of revenue recognised in the respective
reporting periods as the investment advisory and
management agreement with the intermediate holding
company (“IAM Agreement”), as set out in Note 6, expired
on 31 March 2018. The directors of the Company will apply
the practical expedients stated in HKFRS 15 whereby the
Group will not account for the revenue generated under the
IAM agreement which was terminated on 31 March 2018.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases

HKFRS 16 introduces a comprehensive model for the
identification of lease arrangements and accounting
treatments for both lessors and lessees. HKFRS 16 will
supersede HKAS 17 Leases and the related interpretations
when it becomes effective.

HKFRS 16 distinguishes lease and service contracts on the
basis of whether an identified asset is controlled by a
customer. Distinctions of operating leases and finance leases
are removed for lessee accounting, and is replaced by a
model where a right-of-use asset and a corresponding
liability have to be recognised for all leases by lessees, except
for short-term leases and leases of low value assets.

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost and
subsequently measured at cost (subject to certain
exceptions) less accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses, adjusted for any remeasurement of the lease liability.
The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of
the lease payments that are not paid at that date.
Subsequently, the lease liability is adjusted for interest and
lease payments, as well as the impact of lease modifications,
amongst others. For the classification of cash flows, the
Group currently presents upfront prepaid lease payments as
investing cash flows in relation to leasehold land for own
use and those classified as investment properties while other
operating lease payments are presented as operating cash
flows. Upon application of HKFRS 16, lease payments in
relation to lease liability will be allocated into a principal and
an interest portion which will be presented as financing cash
flows by the Group.

In contrast to lessee accounting, HKFRS 16 substantially
carries forward the lessor accounting requirements in HKAS
17, and continues to require a lessor to classify a lease either
as an operating lease or a finance lease.

Furthermore, extensive disclosures are required by HKFRS
16.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued)

As at 31 March 2018, the Group has non-cancellable
operating lease commitments of approximately
HK$100,986,000 as disclosed in Note 27. A preliminary
assessment indicates that these arrangements will meet the
definition of a lease. Upon application of HKFRS 16, the
Group will recognise a right-of-use asset and a
corresponding liability in respect of all these leases unless
they qualify for low value or short-term leases.

In addition, the Group currently considers refundable rental
deposits paid of approximately HK$38,304,000 as rights
under leases to which HKAS 17 applies. Based on the
definition of lease payments under HKFRS 16, such deposits
are not payments relating to the right to use the underlying
assets, accordingly, the carrying amounts of such deposits
may be adjusted to amortised cost and such adjustments are
considered as additional lease payments. Adjustments to
refundable rental deposits paid would be included in the
carrying amount of right-of-use assets.

Furthermore, the application of new requirements may
result in changes in measurement, presentation and
disclosure as indicated above.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition,
the consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (“GEM Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance (“CQO").

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on the historical cost basis except for financial instruments
that are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting
period, as explained in the accounting policies set out
below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date,
regardless of whether that price is directly observable or
estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating
the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into
account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market
participants would take those characteristics into account
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date.
Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in
these consolidated financial statements is determined on
such a basis, except for share-based payment transactions
that are within the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment,
leasing transactions that are within the scope of HKAS 17
Leases, and measurements that have some similarities to fair
value but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in
HKAS 2 Inventories or value in use in HKAS 36 Impairment
of Assets.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on
the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements are observable and the significance of the
inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which
are described as follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity
can access at the measurement date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

° Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

The principal accounting policies are set out below.
Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and entities controlled
by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved
when the Company:

° has power over the investee;

. is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to
one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the
Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income
and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during
the year are included in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income from the date the
Group gains control until the date when the Group ceases
to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the Company. Total
comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to the
owners of the Company.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies
into line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of
the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable.

Revenue is recognised when the amount of revenue can be
reliably measured; when it is probable that future economic
benefits will flow to the Group and when specific criteria
have been met for each of the Group’s activities, as
described below.

Corporate advisory income is recognised when the
underlying services (including placing and underwriting,
securities dealing, mergers and acquisition and other
advisory services) have been provided or the underlying
transactions have been completed, in accordance with the
terms of the service agreement.

Investment advisory and management income is recognised
in the accounting period in which the services are rendered
and all relevant conditions have been fulfilled in accordance
with the terms of the agreement or mandate. Under the
IAM Agreement, management fees are recognised on a
time-apportionment basis with reference to the net asset
value of the investment portfolio managed by the Group,
while performance fees are recognised when the fees
become unconditional to the Group (i.e. upon disposal of
assets in the investment portfolio and receipt of proceeds by
the seller from the disposal). According to the 1AM
Agreement, the remuneration for the investment advisory
and management services would be capped at the higher of
management fees and performance fees on a calendar year
basis.

Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to
the principal outstanding and at the effective interest rate
applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts the
estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of
the financial asset to that asset’s net carrying amount on
initial recognition.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leasing

All leases are classified as operating leases. Operating lease
payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line
basis over the lease term.

In the event that lease incentives are received to enter into
operating leases, such incentives are recognised as a liability.
The aggregate benefit of incentives is recognised as a
reduction of rental expense on a straight-line basis, except
where another systematic basis is more representative of the
time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased
asset are consumed.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are
recognised at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates
of the transactions. At the end of the reporting period,
monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-
monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in
foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on
the date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary
items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a
foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s
operations are translated into the presentation currency of
the Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollars) using exchange rates
prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Income and
expenses items are translated at the average exchange rates
for the period, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly
during the period, in which case, the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of transactions are used. Exchange
differences arising, if any, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under the
heading of translation reserve.

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a disposal of
the Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or a
disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary that
includes a foreign operation), all of the exchange differences
accumulated in equity in respect of that operation
attributable to the owners of the Company are reclassified
to profit or loss.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans,
state-managed retirement benefit schemes and the
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme are recognised as an
expense when employees have rendered service entitling
them to the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid as
and when employees rendered the services. All short-term
employee benefits are recognised as an expense unless
another HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion of the
benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees
(such as wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave)
after deducting any amount already paid.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Share-based payment arrangements
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions.

Share options granted to employees and others
providing similar services

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and
others providing similar services are measured at the fair
value of the equity instruments at the grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based payments
determined at the grant date without taking into
consideration all non-market vesting conditions is expensed
on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, based on the
Group's estimate of equity instruments that will eventually
vest, with a corresponding increase in equity (share options
reserve). At the end of each reporting period, the Group
revises its estimate of the number of equity instruments
expected to vest based on assessment of all relevant non-
market vesting conditions. The impact of the revision of the
original estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss such
that the cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate,
with a corresponding adjustment, if any, to the share
options reserve.

For share options that vest immediately at the date of grant
the fair value of the share options granted is expensed
immediately to profit and loss.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share options reserve, if any, will be
transferred to share premium. When the share options are
forfeited after the vesting date or are still not exercised at
the expiry date, the amount previously recognised in share
options reserve will continue to be held in share options
reserve.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from ‘profit before tax’ as
reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income because of items of income or
expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and
items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group's
liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax
bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred
tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable
temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally
recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available
against which those deductible temporary differences can
be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition (other than in a business combination) of assets
and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable
profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries,
except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences associated with such investments and interests
are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that
there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise
the benefits of the temporary differences and they are
expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits
will be available to allow all or part of the assets to be
recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the
liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rates
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of
its assets and liabilities.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which
case, the current and deferred tax are also recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity
respectively. Where current tax or deferred tax arises from
the initial accounting for a business combination, the tax
effect is included in the accounting for the business
combination.

Plant and equipment

Plant and equipment are stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost, less subsequent
accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated
impairment losses, if any.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Plant and equipment (Continued)

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of the
assets less their residual values over their estimated useful
lives, using the straight line method. The estimated useful
lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed
at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any
changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or
loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of plant
and equipment is determined as the difference between the
sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is
recognised in profit or loss.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when
a group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions
of the instruments.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured
at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial
liabilities (other than financial assets or financial liabilities at
FVTPL) are added to or deducted from the fair value of the
financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on
initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to
the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at
FVTPL are recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets

Financial assets are classified into the following specified
categories: financial assets at FVTPL, AFS financial assets and
loans and receivables. The classification depends on the
nature and purpose of the financial assets and is determined
at the time of initial recognition. All regular way purchases
or sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised
on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of
assets within the time frame established by regulation or
convention in the marketplace.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating
interest income over the relevant period. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash receipts (including all fees and points paid or
received that form an integral part of the effective interest
rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the debt instrument, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on
initial recognition.

Interest income is recognised on an effective interest basis
for debt instruments.
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(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets are classified as at FVTPL when the financial
asset is (i) held for trading or (ii) designated as at FVTPL.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

o it has been acquired principally for the purpose of
selling in the near term; or

o on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has a recent actual pattern of
short-term profit-taking; or

o it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as
a hedging instrument.

A financial asset other than a financial asset held for trading
may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial recognition if:

o such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a
measurement or recognition inconsistency that would
otherwise arise; or

o the financial asset forms part of a group of financial
assets or financial liabilities or both, which is managed
and its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis,
in accordance with the Group’s documented risk
management or investment strategy, and information
about the grouping is provided internally on that basis;
or

° it forms part of a contract containing one or more
embedded derivatives, and HKAS 39 permits the entire
combined contract (asset or liability) to be designated
as at FVTPL.

3.

f 3 S8 205 A B

For the year ended 31 March 2018 BE 201843 H 31 H IF4EF

FESTHEX#)

EWMIAE)
BAFEREZXIIRZ LHEE

ECREERNFAERER « (i) LEHE
ERBEATERBRERIIEE  2REES
BREAFERBRERIE -

WHBRTIIER  EREERBESEER

g -

e BASREEIZERNEHALE:
%

o RUIFHERE EERAKESHE
BremMTAZEEMAGZ 8 R
BEAROBREMENER @ 5

o BABARWEERUAMEEEHITAZ
PTHET A -

RMEEFIEEEZERMBERIN AIRT
FIER TR R 1 E /R A FERE
BRI

o ZIETEHRRIARMAAES HIRK
FAEXERTEN N —BIE X

s ReREEBK - HMEeREEXEA
BEEREERERAGEAS 2 —
#Boy - MR RS AR 1 5 2 A R i R
HIREREE  ZBABEENARFER
EWETERRNEEN BAED
Mz BRI EERARRR M - X

e HERES HEIZEAMANTLEIA
Maz—&2 mMEBSEAR
IVFAHBEEAACAN(BEELE
B)HEE SR AFEMERRIIER

87



77 CAPITAL INTERNATIONAL LIMITED H4# & 7% [ B A FRR A &)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

b o A S A B

For the year ended 31 March 2018

88

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets at FVTPL (Continued)

Financial assets at FVTPL are stated at fair value, with any
gains or losses arising on remeasurement recognised in
profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss
includes any dividend or interest earned on the financial
assets and is included in the “net investment income (loss)”
line item. Fair value is determined in the manner described
in Note 31.

AFS financial assets

AFS financial assets are non-derivatives that are either
designated as available-for-sale or are not classified as (a)
loans and receivables, (b) held-to-maturity investments or (c)
financial assets at FVTPL.

Equity and debt securities held by the Group that are
classified as AFS financial assets are measured at fair value
at the end of each reporting period except for unquoted
equity investments whose fair value cannot be reliably
measured. Changes in the carrying amount of AFS debt
instruments relating to changes in foreign exchange rates, if
applicable are recognised in profit or loss. Dividends on AFS
equity instruments are recognised in profit or loss when the
Group's right to receive the dividends is established. When
the investment is disposed of or is determined to be
impaired, the cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated
in the investments revaluation reserve is reclassified to profit
or loss.

AFS equity investments that do not have a quoted market
price in an active market and whose fair value cannot be
reliably measured are measured at cost less any identified
impairment losses at the end of each reporting period.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in
an active market. Subsequent to initial recognition, loans
and receivables (including deposits, trade receivables, other
assets and receivables, cash held on behalf of clients and
bank balances and cash) are measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method, less any impairment.

Interest income is recognised by applying the effective
interest rate, except for short-term receivables where the
recognition of interest would be immaterial.

Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets, other than those at FVTPL, are assessed for
indicators of impairment at the end of each reporting
period. Financial assets are considered to be impaired when
there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or more
events that occurred after the initial recognition of the
financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of the
financial assets have been affected.

For AFS equity investments, a significant or prolonged
decline in the fair value of the security below its cost is
considered to be objective evidence of impairment.

For all other financial assets, objective evidence of
impairment could include:

° significant financial difficulty of the issuer or
counterparty; or

. breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in
interest or principal payments; or

o it becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or financial re-organisation.

3.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Loans and receivables (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Objective evidence of impairment for a portfolio of
receivables could include the Group’s past experience of
collecting payments, an increase in the number of delayed
payments in the portfolio past the average credit period of
90 days, observable changes in national or local economic
conditions that correlate with default on receivables.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of
the impairment loss recognised is the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the
estimated future cash flows discounted at the financial
asset’s original effective interest rate.

For financial assets carried at cost, the amount of the
impairment loss is measured as the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the
estimated future cash flows discounted at the current
market rate of return for a similar financial asset. Such
impairment loss will not be reversed in subsequent periods.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the
impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the
exception of trade receivables, where the carrying amount is
reduced through the use of an allowance account. Changes
in the carrying amount of the allowance account are
recognised in profit or loss. When a trade receivable is
considered uncollectible, it is written off against the
allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts
previously written off are credited to profit or loss.

When an AFS financial asset is considered to be impaired,
impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss in the
period.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Loans and receivables (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a
subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss
decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an
event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the
previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through
profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of the
investment at the date the impairment is reversed does not
exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the
impairment not been recognised.

In respect of AFS equity investments, impairment losses
previously recognised in profit or loss are not reversed
through profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are
classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in
accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and
an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all
of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company
are recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue
costs.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Equity instruments (Continued)
Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating
interest expense over the relevant period. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash payments (including all fees and points paid or
received that form an integral part of the effective interest
rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the financial liability, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on
initial recognition.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest basis.
Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including trade payables, other payables
and accruals and amount due to an intermediate holding
company are subsequently measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest method.

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another
entity. If the Group retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the
Group continues to recognise the financial asset and also
recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds
received.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Derecognition (Continued)

On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the
consideration received and receivable and the cumulative
gain or loss that had been recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity is
recognised in profit or loss.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount
of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration
paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCE OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group's accounting policies, which
are described in note 3, the directors of the Company are
required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are
not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and
associated assumptions are based on historical experience
and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if
the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCE OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Critical judgement in applying accounting
policies

The following is the critical judgement, apart from those
involving estimations (see below), that the directors of the
Company have made in the process of applying the Group’s
accounting policies and that have the most significant effect
on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial
statements.

Classification of convertible loan receivable
designated at FVTPL

As described in Note 14, on 7 September 2017, an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company entered into a
loan agreement in which a loan facility of up to United
States dollars (“US$") 31,000,000 was granted to Geoswift
Holding Limited (" Geoswift”), an independent third party.
The loan facility was granted with an option for the
Company to convert, at the Group’s discretion, such loan
receivable of US$31,000,000 into 2,000 shares of Geopay
Holdings Limited (“Geopay”), a wholly owned subsidiary of
Geoswift. At the same time, the total number of shares of
Geopay can be increased from 10,000 to 13,000 shares at
the discretion of Geopay. This will dilute the Group’s interest
in Geopay from 20% to 15.38%, depending on the
numbers of issued shares of Geopay at time of exercising
the option (“Option”).
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCE OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Classification of convertible loan receivable
designated at FVTPL (Continued)

When determining the classification of such convertible loan
receivable, the directors of the Company assessed whether
the potential voting rights in Geopay contribute significant
influence by the Group over Geopay as at 31 March 2018
based on all the facts and circumstances that affect the
potential rights. In making the judgement, the directors of
the Company considered the terms of exercise of the
potential voting rights, the potential voting rights held by
other third parties and other contractual arrangements.
After the assessment, the total number of shares of Geopay
outstanding can be increased at the discretion of Geopay
which would dilute the Group's potential interest in Geopay
to below 20%, the directors of the Company concluded
that there is uncertainty of the Company’s shareholding in
Geopay and therefore the Company does not have
significant influence over Geopay. Such convertible loan
receivable is therefore accounted for as financial assets and
is designated at FVTPL.

Estimation uncertainty

The following is the key assumption concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end
of the reporting period, that may have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCE OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Fair value measurements and valuation process

Some of the Group’s assets and liabilities are measured at
fair value that are determined based on the management’s
estimations. In particular, the estimation of fair value of the
convertible loan receivable designated at FVTPL as disclosed
in note 14 includes some significant assumptions not
supported by observable market prices or rates, including
expected volatility, and discount rate. At 31 March 2018,
the fair value of the convertible loan receivable designated
at FVTPL was approximately HK$249,405,000 (2017: nil).

Note 31 provides detailed information about the valuation
techniques, inputs and key assumptions used in the
determination of the fair value of various assets and
liabilities.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group’s principal businesses are the provision of
corporate advisory services and investment advisory and
management services. The Group has also started to identify
alternative investments globally which might result in new
segments. The executive directors have been identified as
the chief operating decision-maker (“CODM"), responsible
for making strategic decisions, allocating resources and
assessing performance of the operating segments. The
CODM, who allocates resources and assess performance
based on the consolidated financial information for the
entire business, considers the Group operates only in the
provision of corporate advisory services and investment
advisory and management services (“Corporate advisory and
IAM™). “Others” consists of other corporate activities and
shared services that are incurred for alternative investments
opportunities but not related to the Corporate advisory and
IAM segment. During the year, alternative investments
opportunities did not result in new revenue streams or were
terminated. Information provided to the CODM is measured
in a manner consistent with that in the consolidated
financial statements. The CODM expects as the Group's
business continues to evolve, the appropriateness of
operating segments and reportable segments will need to
be reviewed in due course.
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5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 5. ZEBER 4
Year ended 31 March 2018 HZ2018F3A31HILEE
Corporate
advisory and
IAM Others Total
TEBEMR
REFAHR
EEEE Hith st
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
Revenue from external customers K B 4NEEE F YU A 246,447 — 246,447
Segment profit (loss) before tax BT BT 8B B (B 18) 236,786 (209,964) 26,822
Segment assets HEEE 433,434 577,141 1,010,575
Segment liabilities DEEE 6,212 13,949 20,161
Other segment information: HibnapErt :
Income tax expense S X (1,332) (4,688) (6,020)
Interest income FB YA 515 507 1,022
Depreciation E — 2,308 2,308
Year ended 31 March 2017 BZE2017F3A31BLEE
Corporate
advisory
and IAM Others Total
EBERR
REZHE
EEER Hith et
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$'000
FHETT FHEIT FEIT
Revenue from external customers 38 BANERE P HY YL A 213,695 — 213,695
Segment profit (loss) before tax B F BT 2B T (B 1) 192,752 (124,880) 67,872
Segment assets DEE E 248,736 771,402 1,020,138
Segment liabilities DEEE 10,982 36,913 47,895
Other segment information: Hig D EfER -
Income tax credit TSR & 11,310 — 11,310
Interest income FE A 464 2,325 2,789
Depreciation e 1,060 128 1,188
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BE20184F3 A 31 H IFF
5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 5. oEER#)

Geographical information

(a) REIEBEF KA

(a) Revenue from external customers

98

2018 & 20174

HK$’000 HK$'000

FETT FET

Hong Kong E% 8,100 19,460
The People’s Republic of China PEARLFME([HEE])

(“the PRC") 230,299 194,233
United Kingdom (“UK") e 8,048 —
Others Hib — 2

246,447 213,695

The revenue information above is based on the

location of the customers.

LB ABRTIEREFAEBEZS -

(b) Non-current assets (b) ¥ HBEE
2018 F 20174
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Hong Kong a5 1,026 1,412
Israel LA &5 7 —
UK ] 4,221 464
The United States of America Ede
(the “USA") 4,776 116
10,030 1,992

The non-current asset information is based on the
location of assets and excludes financial instruments
(e.g. convertible loan receivable designated at FVTPL,

deposits, AFS investment).
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
Information about major customer

Revenue from the major customer amounting to 10% or
more of the Group’s revenue is set out below:

f 3 S8 205 A B

For the year ended 31 March 2018 HE20184F3 A 31 H IFFF

DEER (#)
FERFER

KEXBEF(EAKREBEAMN10%KIA L)
HUH AT -

2018 & 2017 %

HK$°000 HK$°000

FEIT FET

Customer A (Note) 2B AMEE) 230,299 193,983

Note: the Customer A is an intermediate holding company of the Group
and transactions have been disclosed in Note 32(a).

REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME

An analysis of the Group’s revenue and other income is as
follows:

Wit - BEPARKNSEREZERARRZSRERK T
32(@a) °

LN S-S LN

AREBEWAREMBBADHTLAT

2018 % 2017 &
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
Revenue KA

Corporate advisory income T ERERBA 16,148 19,712

Investment advisory and management RERAREBWA (M:E)
income (Note) 230,299 193,983
246,447 213,695
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For the year ended 31 March 2018 HE 201843 A 31 H I

6. REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME (Continued) 6. WAREMBA (2

20185 2017 4
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
Net investment income (loss) REWA (FR) FH
Net fair value loss on held for trading BIEEEKREZ
investments N EEERTER (772) (25)
Fair value gain on convertible loan EERRATERERRIIERRN
receivable designated at FVTPL FEUR AT E A AW 7,047 —
Dividend income f& S A = 4
6,275 (21)
Interest income FIE WA
Interest income from financial assets REe@EEZMEWRA
— Bank deposits — RITEXK 1,022 2,789
Other income and net gains (losses)  HfbW A R Ui (F1E) B8
Loss on disposal of subsidiary (Note 32(b)) &K B AT EE (K72 32(0b) = (341)
Loss on disposal of plant and equipment & E K& &R E1E — (124)
Gain on exchange differences [ Z R 2,318 369
2,318 (96)
Revenue and other income WA R H AU A 256,062 216,367
Note: Investment advisory and management income represents either Hiat - REFZAREZWAIEIR20164F2 A2 B HEH#E
performance fees or management fees to the Group from the ERARIPEFINREBARER HEER TE
intermediate holding company, whichever is higher, in every calendar BEEFREEERARMAEESTHREE AN
year under the IAM Agreement dated 2 February 2016 with the EREBEAURSEARE) - RRERBE - WE
intermediate holding company. When service is rendered, BRI AR BERAMB@AEEA AR SETE @ A
management fees or performance fees are recognised as revenue BRBERARKRREAERRBWA - WREEREA
when it is probable that there is an economic inflow to the entity and HBAREHMESMEBEH T EEER -
the amount can be reliably measured. When performance fees are BIEREERNZRAEHDEE B WSEREE
contingent on a future event which is outside the control of the TEEUR - FRARTD REHER - RRER
entity, management considered the contingent portion is only NEHEARHEREEASTEERRETE  MER
recognised when the contingent event has happened and there is no BRAEBREEBEFEREL2ELREBFREEN
uncertainty on revenue recognition. While the quantum of KWEAE 2 EEFEIRS ML AR ©

performance fees can be ascertained upon disposal of assets in the
investment portfolio, management fees are only recognised on a time-
apportionment basis with reference to the net asset value of the
investment portfolio managed by the Group by the end of each
calendar year.
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7. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CREDIT) 7. FiSBRAXZER)
2018 2017 &
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET F&T
Hong Kong Profit Tax ERBMEH

Current tax RIHRH I8 1,332 —
Underprovision in prior years BREFERETR = 1,437
1,332 1,437

PRC Enterprise Income Tax PRl ATIS
Overprovision in prior years (Note) BRFEEBBERE (KF) — (12,747)

The USA Federal, State and New York City B8 S I RABAI T TS E

Income Tax

Current tax RVARH 18 1,112 —
UK Corporation Tax KRB ERIR

Current tax BER# 18 3,449 —
Israel Corporation Tax AR I

Current tax BNVERTHIE 127 —
Total current tax BEATR IR 42 %E 6,020 (11,310)
Income tax expense (credit) FEBiR < (E2) 6,020 (11,310)
Hong Kong profits tax is calculated at 16.5% of the 2 R RE S # BB RSB IR S RS R % F
estimated assessable profit for both years. 16.5% 5+ o
Under the Law of the People’s Republic of China on BB A R FIE D 2 ERE ([ DR
Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT Law"”) and Implementation BRE ) B R ERSEE S - ZRE

Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate of the PRC
subsidiaries is 25% for both years.

FETEMNBRARMNRER25% °
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For the year ended 31 March 2018 HE 201843 A 31 H I

7. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CREDIT) (Continued) 7. FRSHBBREX (E&E)#®)

Federal, State and New York City tax rate in the USA is R20184F - EEEEFL - M RALH T KL
calculated at 52% for 2018. The U.S. Tax Cuts and Jobs Act 52%EtE - EEURMEMEZEZR(IER]D)
(the “Act”) was enacted into law on 22 December 2017. R2017FE 12 A2 B EAER - sZARME
The Act includes significant changes to the U.S. corporate BREAERCEMEMSEHR2018E1H1H
income tax system that are effective on 1 January 2018, BARNEXNES  BESEECEMRSGR
including a reduction of the U.S. corporate income tax rate KH3I5%BME21% °

from 35% to 21%.

The corporation tax rate in the UK is calculated at 19% for 20184 - HEIRRERERZ19% ©
2018.
Note: Pursuant to the relevant tax rules and regulations in China, the tax Bz : BEPEEEHRERLRETE  FERLE (L

payable on income derived by non-resident enterprises (in this case
Asian Capital (Corporate Finance) Limited (“ACCF"”), a wholly owned
subsidiary of the Group) should be withheld at source, with the payer
(in this case FEEAEIEHR AT (Zhongzhi Capital Management
Company Limited*) (“Zhongzhi Capital”), an intermediate holding
company of the Group) as the withholding agent but the actual tax
outcome might vary upon settlement. Thus, management took the
view that corporate income tax amounting to approximately
HK$12,747,000 arising from fee receivable from Zhongzhi Capital
during the fifteen months ended 31 March 2016 was subject to
significant uncertainty as at 31 March 2016. A provision was made
accordingly.

For the year ended 31 March 2017, the related receivable for the
investment advisory and management services has been received in
full. Based on the IAM Agreement which also sets out that the
amount is net of related taxes, management considers that it is
appropriate to release the above tax provisions of income tax
amounting to approximately HK$12,747,000. No provision for
corporate income tax was made for the current year as management
expects the related receivable will be settled in full by Zhongzhi
Capital.

*  For identification purpose only
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MERTE - Al AEEE BEREBETIRE
1% °

REE2017F3A31HILFE REBARER
BR 75 2 #6178 FE R T B B B - IRIRIRE
RERGH(ERAHEMBREEREZRIE)
BTEERAEL Lili#12,747,000 8 A5 2
RERENEEE - HREEEET A BERR
BASRPEEABHES MAFEYETIRE
HEFTEH -



2017/18 Annual Report 4F-$

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

f 3 S8 205 A B

For the year ended 31 March 2018 BE 201843 H 31 H IF4EF

7. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CREDIT) (Continued) 7. FFEBIBX (3E%)2)

The tax charge (credit) for the year can be reconciled to the RELEHIBERAY (HKe)rJEigaiamREM
profit before tax per the consolidated statement of profit or 2EWER BB IEFSEENT

loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

2018 % 2017 4
HK$'000 HK$'000
FE FHEIT
Profit before tax Rk 5 B S 1) 26,822 67,872
Tax calculated at domestic income tax RS E 16.5% T 88
rates of 16.5% a 4,426 11,199
Overprovision in respect of prior years BEFERERE — (11,310)
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax
purpose BRI Z TR (39,330) (32,446)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for
tax purpose TNAHIRAX 2 R E 630 3,361
Utilisation of tax losses previously not
recognised BRI ARERBIIRE R (460) (248)
Tax effect of unused tax losses not RIER M AB AR IBEL ZFG
recognised 2= 39,556 18,096
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries E fth 5% & [& 2 & M B A 7] Fi R
operating in other jurisdictions TRz 2 1,337 —
Others HAith (139) 38
Income tax expense (credit) for the year  ARFEZFTERFHY (K5) 6,020 (11,310)
As at 31 March 2018, the Group has tax losses of 2018438310 "AEERALAAT R E
approximately HK$343,135,000 (2017: HK$106,190,000) B B 2 ) 77 2 A BT A5 98 49 343,135,000
incurred by the Company and its subsidiaries which are 5T(20174F : 106,190,000 7T) - @S
subject to the approval by the relevant tax authority. The /A A BRI L o B R AR FIR
Group has not recognised deferred tax in respect of tax ATTER - 75 5 W ok 3t A 4k 8 A 3 R R e
losses of approximately HK$343,135,000 (2017: S0 B 1l A B 5 65 8 49 343,135,000 T

HK$106,190,000) that can be carried forward against future
taxable income due to unpredictability of future profit
streams. The tax losses may be carried forward indefinitely.

(20174 : 106,190,000/ 7r ) & R IE 1§
T8 - FiIAES I8 Al IR HpAh e o
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For the year ended 31 March 2018 E20184F3 A 31 H IL4FfE

8. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 8. FRW=A
The Group's profit for the year has been arrived at after AREBEKEREFLHR GEA) T5&1E :
charging (crediting):
2018 % 2017 F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FEIT
Depreciation (note 13) & (it 13) 2,308 1,188
Auditor’s remuneration = E AR &

— Audit fees — EZEA 1,820 1,800
Legal and professional fees FREREXER 37,368 15,297
Net reversal of impairment loss on trade ~ #[E1 % 5 e IER EE 18

receivables (note 16) FRE(faE16) — (791)
Impairment on plant and equipment 5= M R ERUE (et 13)

(note 13) — 319
Employee benefit expense (including EERAAY (BIEEEH

directors’ remuneration (note 9)): (K17£9)) -

— Salaries, wages, allowances and — T& &4 2L NIEA

bonuses 110,071 92,572

— Retirement benefits scheme — RIREFIEEIE R

contributions 564 571
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9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 9. EERBSITHAEME
EMOLUMENTS

Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year, R #5 8 A GEM | i AR Bl X2 2 B 51 5 55 1Y

disclosed pursuant to the applicable GEM Listing Rules and BENRSITRASFEHFMOT
the CO, is as follows:

Year ended 31 March 2018 BZ2018F3A3MBLEE

Other

emoluments

paid or

payable in

respect of

director's

other services

in connection

with the

management

of the

Salaries Retirement  affairs of the

and benefits  Company or
Directors' other  Discretionary scheme  its subsidiary Total
Name of director fees benefits bonuses  contributions  undertaking  remuneration

RESAf

i (HER

ARFHE

HEAR

EERE) 2

HER BiERR BiCER  Ht2fE
Expg E2he EpRH A Eig e HMAR
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$°000
AT T AT AT AT TEx

(Note 5)
(Hists)
Executive Directors: YiTEs
(Note 1) (it 1)
Ms. Duan Di Bt 2,054 - - - - 2,054
Mr. Cho Michael Min-kuk (Note 4)  # B % A (Hfit4)
(resigned on 15 February 2018) (3201842 A 15
BiF) - 14,280 - 17 8,705 23,002
Mr. Chen Jianfeng Peter [ Sk - 6,000 - 18 - 6,018
Ms. Zhang Yun FERT 1,400 - - - - 1,400
3,454 20,280 — 35 8,705 32,474
Independent Non-executive ~ Biuif7E%
Directors (Note 3) (Hit3)
Mr. Stephen Markscheid Stephen Markscheid
pired 788 - - — - 788
Mr. Edouard Merette (resigned o Edouard Merette 7t 4
4 January 2018) (M2018%174A
#iT) 673 - — — — 673
Mr. Zhang Weidong FEHRLE 788 = ~ = = 788
Mr. Zhang Longgen (appointed on AR 54 (12018
4 January 2018) 1 H4BEZfE) 191 - - — - 191
2,440 - = = - 2,440
5,804 20,280 — 35 8,705 34,914
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For the year ended 31 March 2018 E20184F3 A 31 H IL4FfE

9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 9. EERBSITHAEME®)
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

Year ended 31 March 2017 BZE2017FE3A31HLEEE

Other

emoluments

paid or

payable in

respect of

director's

other services

in connection

with the

management

of the

Retirement  affairs of the

benefits ~ Company or
Salariesand ~ Discretionary scheme its subsidiary Total
Name of director Directors' fees  other benefits honuses  contributions undertaking  remuneration

HERAM

T (g

A YNIERCE

HEAR

$EE)Z

=5 S ) e
EEfth 2k Hitieh| BEEROEL RIEMHEHR  EAME e
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AT THET THET TET AT AT

(Note 5)
(fist5)
Executive Directors HIEs
(Note 1) (BizE1)
Ms. Duan Di (appointed on 12 May itz + (120165
2016) A 12 REZf) 1329 - - - - 1329
Mr. Cho Michael Min-kuk BEELE(R2016F
(appointed on 12 May 2016) 5A1AERA) - 14,349 7,020 17 = 21,386
Mr. Chen Jianfeng Peter PRAISBEE (R2016%
(appointed on 17 June 2016) 6717 BEZf) — 5,550 — 18 1,000 6,568
Ms. Zhang Yun (appointed on 17 S+ (74201656
June 2016) A17TREZA) 906 = = - - 906
Mr. Yeung Kai Cheung Patrick 122525 4 (FE 81
(appointment lapsed on 17 June 201656 417 B &)
2016) 3 505 — 4 — 512
Mr. Chan Hok Leung (appointment  FRER %4 ({EERR
lapsed on 17 June 2016) 201656 A17HER) 3 364 - 4 - 371
2241 20,768 7,020 43 1,000 31,072
Non-executive Director FHTES
(Note 2) (Hz2)
Mr. Xin Luo Lin (appointment ~ SFEEARSE H ((EE5R
lapsed on 17 June 2016) W016E6R17HER) 74 _ = = — 74
74 — — — — 74
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9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 9. EERBSITHAEME#)
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

Year ended 31 March 2017 (Continued) HZ2017F3A31BLLEEE (&)

Other

emoluments

paid or

payable in

respect of

directors

other services

in connection

with the

management

of the

Retirement  affairs of the

benefits ~ Company or
Salariesand  Discretionary scheme its subsidiary Total
Name of director Directors' fees  other benefits bonuses  contributions undertaking  remuneration

HESAM

T (g

ARAHH

HEAR

SEE)7

\ -7 S q LTRhE
A Exfg Hioieh| BERROEL RIEMHEIER  EEBME el
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TRt Tt tRr TRt T#t  TEn

(Note 5)
(Hts)
Independent non-executive ~ BIUFHTES
Directors (Note 3) (Hiz3)
Mr. Stephen Markscheid Stephen Markscheid 7
(appointed on 18 June 2016) H(R2016%6 718
AEZ{) 619 - = - - 619
Mr. Edouard Merette (appointed  Edouard Merette 54
on 18 June 2016) (R201656 A 18H
BZ() 698 - - - - 698
Mr. Zhang Weidong (appointed on 2k &5 52 2 (1 2016 4
5 July 2016) 1ASBEE() 583 - - - . 583
Mr. Chan Kai Nang (appointment  BERAS 55 4 (85
lapsed on 17 June 2016) 01656A178ER) 88 — - - - 88
Mr. Tsui Pui Yan (resigned on 18 (R E L4 (R 20165F
June 2016) 6A18AET) 88 = - - - 88
Mr. Yi Xiqun (resigned on RAHAE (20165
6 April 2016) 4R 6RER) 2 - - = = 2
2,078 - — — — 2,078
4393 20,768 7,020 43 1,000 33,224
Note 1: The chief executive’s emoluments and executive directors’ Hiit1: EXFAIRB&R&ETBABRRITES 2 ME 5t
emoluments shown above were for their services in connection with HEBARNRREMEBAREBHAEZRBM
the management of the affairs of the Company and its subsidiaries. R -
Note 2: The non-executive director’s emoluments shown above were mainly Mtz FRIFRTERCHMEFEREEEARRRAR
for his services as director of the Company and its subsidiaries. HItB A RER MR -
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For the year ended 31 March 2018

10.

108

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

Note 3: The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments shown above
were for their services as directors of the Company.

Note 4: Salaries and other benefits paid to Mr. Cho Michael Min-kuk include

his service in connection with the management of the affairs of the
Company and the payments made in respect of his loss of office,
amounting to approximately HK$8,705,000, during the year ended
31 March 2018.

Note 5: Bonuses are discretionary and are based on the Group’s

performance for the year.

There was no arrangement under which any directors
waived or agreed to waive any remuneration
during both years.

For the year ended 31 March 2017, except for the
HK$1,000,000 received by Mr. Chen Jianfeng Peter, none of
the directors received or will receive inducement fees for
accepting of office as directors (2018: Nil).

Details of the material interests of the directors in
transactions, arrangements and contracts entered into by
the Group are set out in note 32.

FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees of the Group during the
year included two (2017: two) directors, details of whose
remuneration are set out in note 9 above. Details of the
remuneration for the year of the remaining three (2017:
three) highest paid employees who are neither a director nor
chief executive of the Company are as follows:

HE 201843 A 31 H I

<)

10.

ESERBSTBRAEME @)

i3 EBUFRTESFZHEDREEEARTF

BEEmiRdt -

Hfat4 . BE2018F3A31BILEE » S TFHEEL
ERFEREMEFNEEREERARRER

e ELBR B T £ i AO 9 3K40 8,705,000 8 7T ©

HfaE5 : FEAERAREFERRBBERE -

BEESNZMEFERELRBRELM
BN 2k -

HZE2017F3A31MBIEFE > BRERIEL
A U2 ER 1,000,000 7 T+ #E 4 2 = UL EX 3k

BURERIRE RE R AR RZE (20184 :
&) -

EERAKETINRS  KERSHTH
BEARESFIFEHNMES2

IfumEHMES

FR AEBRAUGEFME TEEMM
(2017F : MAEE  HFMFBEHER L
XHIFEQ o TR v #A TN =01 (2017 4F © =f1L)
FEARREETRERTHABERHHES
MBS T -

2018 & 2017 F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET

Salaries, allowances, bonuses and benefits ¥4 « 285 « FEAL R BEWH|E
in kind 18,351 18,920
Retirement benefits BRIREF 18 30
18,369 18,950
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10. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES (Continued)  10. AN REEHMES (&)
The number of the highest paid employees who are not the ERANFTEEZHMESE TNV SEEANN RS 5
directors of the Company whose remuneration fell within BiEE ABINT :

11.

12.

the following bands is as follows:

Number of employees

EE%HE
2018 20174
HK$4,000,001 to HK$4,500,000 4,000,001 78 7T £ 4,500,000 /8 7T - 1
HK$4,500,001 to HK$5,000,000 4,500,001 78 7L £ 5,000,000 /5 7T - =
HK$5,000,001 to HK$5,500,000 5,000,001 /87L& 5,500,000 7 7T 1 1

HK$5,500,001 to HK$6,000,000
HK$6,000,001 to HK$6,500,000
HK$6,500,001 to HK$7,000,000
HK$7,000,001 to HK$7,500,000
HK$7,500,001 to HK$8,000,000
HK$8,000,001 to HK$8,500,000

5,500,001 77T 2 6,000,000/ 7T
6,000,001 77T 6,500,000 %8 70
6,500,001 77T 2 7,000,000 7 7T
7,000,001 7L 7,500,000 7 7T
7,500,001 77T Z 8,000,000 7 7T
8,000,001 3 L= 8,500,000 4 7T

I =1
[

-
|

DIVIDENDS

No dividend was paid or proposed for ordinary shareholders
of the Company during the year ended 31 March 2018, nor
has any dividend been proposed since the end of the

reporting period (2017: nil).

EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share
attributable to the owners of the Company is based on the

following data.

1. BRE

HZE2018FE3 A3 HIEFEI ERAR A
ETBERRTFRRBRTRE
LAZRINEIR IR 3B (2017 6F « £E) -

B#HREHR

12. BRER

AN T AR R A RS BRI TR
RO T BB -

20185 2017 4
HK$'000 HK$°000
FET FEIT
Earnings: &
Profit for the year attributable to owners  RAGHEAR A BIHFR
of the Company ol 20,802 79,182
2018 2017 4
Number of shares: RIHEE :
Weighted average number of ordinary R EFREARAREERF 2
shares for the purposes of calculating I3RS DN AE T 2
basic and diluted earnings per share 3,550,496,836 3,550,496,836
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12. EARNINGS PER SHARE (Continued) 12. BRER &)
HNEZE2018FE3A31 B I FEE T EEL
ERTHSL@RQ0T7TE: &) HER
BERANESREARFER -

Diluted earnings per share amount was the same as basic
earnings per share amount as there were no potential
dilutive ordinary shares outstanding for the year ended 31
March 2018 (2017: nil).

13. PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13. HERRE

110

Furniture,
Leasehold fixtures and Motor
improvements equipment vehicles Total
HE B #£BR
MERE B ] AE @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FEn FEn FEn
CosT KA
At 1 April 2016 ®2016F4A1H — 3,074 2,377 5,451
Additions NE — 1,435 707 2,142
Disposals HE — — (2,377) (2,377)
At 31 March 2017 R2017%F3 7318 — 4,509 707 5,216
Additions NE 2,185 7,699 — 9,884
Disposals HeE — (3,096) — (3,096)
Exchange realignment [& 5 — 519 — 519
At 31 March 2018 201853 H31R 2,185 9,631 707 12,523
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION B HERHE
AND IMPAIRMENT

At 1 April 2016 R2016F4 A1 R - 2,153 817 2,970
Provided for the year FRRE = 740 448 1,188
Disposals HeE — — (1,253) (1,253)
Impairment HE — 319 - 319
At 31 March 2017 R2017%F3A31H — 3,212 12 3,224
Provided for the year FARE 271 1,896 141 2,308
Disposals HE — (3.,096) — (3,096)
Exchange realignment BE N AR — 57 — 57
At 31 March 2018 RK2018F3A31H 271 2,069 153 2,493
CARRYING VALUES REE
At 31 March 2018 R2018%F3 A31H 1,914 7,562 554 10,030
At 31 March 2017 2017434318 — 1,297 695 1,992
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14.
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The above items of plant and equipment are depreciated on
a straight-line basis at the following rates per annum:

Over the shorter of lease term
or 20%
20% to 50%

Leasehold improvements
Furniture, fixtures and

equipment
Motor vehicles 20%

CONVERTIBLE LOAN RECEIVABLE

f 3 S8 205 A B

For the year ended 31 March 2018 BE 201843 H 31 H IF4EF

13. BMENRZE &)

Ll KR ETE B IR A SE R A T E R
5

HEmERE IR EASE 20% (LAEE
R HEREZE 20%E50%
RE 20%

EERLAFERBERIIRNE

DESIGNATED AT FVTPL WA R E R
2018 & 20174
HK$’000 HK$°000
Flx F#T

Convertible loan receivable designated
at FVTPL

BERAFERBRERIRNE
Y RTHa R B R

249,405 =

On 7 September 2017, ZZCl Corporate Services Limited (the
“Lender”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, entered into a loan agreement and a security
agreement over shares with Geoswift Holding Limited (the
“Borrower”), an independent third party of the Group,
pursuant to which the Lender agreed to grant a loan facility
of up to US$31,000,000 to the Borrower for a term of 18
months at interest rate of 7% per annum. The provision of
the loan facility allows the Borrower to fund Geopay to
finance the payment of part of the consideration for the
acquisition of PayEase Beijing (HK) Limited and PayEase
(Hong Kong) Limited (“PayEase Acquisition”) which was
completed by Geopay on 11 December 2017.

In connection with the loan facility, on 7 September 2017,
the Borrower granted a call option over 2,000 shares out of
10,000 shares of Geopay to the Lender, representing a 20%
interest in Geopay. The total number of outstanding shares
of Geopay can be increased to 13,000 at the discretion of
Geopay as permitted in the agreement, resulting in a
conversion of the Group’s interest over Geopay to below
20% at the time of exercise of the call option by the Group.

M201769A7H  FEERCERBEER
RAI(TERA ARFH—REEZE2EH
B 2 7) Bi Geoswift Holding Limited ([ f& &
Al REBNBIE=H) T L ERHE KL
BHERBE - Bt ERARERBERA
B H &% 431,000,000 E TR ERRE 5
H18EA  FRERATE - ERBEZEBER
A 7] & Geopay I #ft & & X 1 U & PayFase
Beijing (HK) Limited I &2 5 X (FH) A
PR A &) ([PayEase WS E 18 |) B 5 R (E -
FA Geopay 720174 12 A 11 H5EK °

RERBMEMS - N2017F9A7H - B3
A B E A B H 10,000 8% Geopay i% 17 &
2000 M REHE BHERE
Geopay 20% 1z - FERH AT MBS T
Geopay Al B A5 E B TR M AEIE ME
13,000 % + 2B BN & [# 10 Geopay A #E 25 10
RNEEITERB RS AEKK20% -
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14.

15.

112

CONVERTIBLE LOAN RECEIVABLE
DESIGNATED AT FVTPL (Continued)

The exercise of the call option is at the Lender’s discretion
and the exercise price is US$31,000,000 which shall be
either in cash or set off against the principal and any
accrued and unpaid interest under the loan facility
agreement. The option will expire 18 months after the date
of completion of the PayEase Acquisition.

Details of the above transaction were disclosed in the
announcement of the Company dated 7 September 2017.

On 3 October 2017, US$31,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$242,358,000) was drawn down by the
Borrower and call option has not been exercised as at 31
March 2018.

The instrument contains embedded derivative (i.e. the call
option) and is therefore accounted for as financial asset
designated at FVTPL. The Group has engaged an
independent professional valuer to perform the valuation as
at 31 March 2018 and the detail assumptions are disclosed
in note 31.

Change in fair value of the convertible loan receivable

HE 201853 H31 HIFFE

14. EEER jEE’;‘%Eﬁ%EUE-EE’JFE

.
YWl E R (2

RBHERERANESRETE  7FEEE
31,000,000 7T © EF AR S EHE G
EpaE TAS AR EA R AT BE S
NS o 2% HARE #5 7 PayEase Ui 5 25 18 72 ik
HEAZ 18 1@ B fEM °

LR B FEBERERAAG BEA2017
FORTHZAE -

MR2017F10A38 & % A B 1 B!
31,000,000 3 7t ( #8 & 7 #9242,358,000 7%
JT) © MRBEAREMN 2018F3 A31 BiARTT
1§ o

TESHAXTET A (BIZEEE) - Atk

ABRAEBTEEAFERBERIENSRHE

B ANEEELZEBY HEGEMERMM2018

Em 31 B#ETTHE R FAREN M 31
EEEE o

BERAFENERRIIRNEEAIREE

designated at FVTPL has been disclosed in Note 31(i). RN EZESEHERHIFE3G) °
DEPOSITS 15. &&
2018 & 2017 F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FEIT
Rental and management fee deposits HEREBEBIRS 2,267 35,983
Deposit for proposed acquisition of a BRUEENBARZIES
subsidiary (see Note (a)) (RBHIsE () 205,214 —
Others Hih 100 100
207,581 36,083
Note: Htat -

(a) On 14 July 2017 » ZZCl Index Partners LLC, an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, entered into a unit purchase agreement
("Alerian Unit Purchase Agreement”) as the buyer (the “Buyer”) with
Mr. Gabriel Hammond, Mr. Daniel Hammond and Mr. Kenny Feng as
the sellers (the “Sellers”), Mr. Gabriel Hammond as the Sellers’
representative and GKD Index Partners, LLC, pursuant to which the
Buyer has conditionally agreed to acquire and the as Sellers have
conditionally agreed to sell the equity interest in GKD Index Partners,
LLC, subject to the terms and conditions therein.

Details of above transaction were disclosed in the announcement of
the Company dated 14 July 2017 and 15 January 2018. A deposit of
approximately US$26,309,000 (approximately HK$205,214,000) has
been placed in an escrow account.

On 24 May 2018, upon the termination of Alerian Unit Purchase
Agreement as described in Note 34, the deposit of US$25,000,000
(net of legal and professional fees paid) has been released and
returned to the Group. Refer to Note 34 for further details.

(a) 7201747 A 148 » ZZCl Index Partners LLC ( 2
RAIZHEEZEMBAR - ERER)(EH]HE
Gabriel Hammond 5t 4  Daniel Hammond %t 4 &
Kenny Feng 5t (1E RSB ) ([ZEEF])
Gabriel Hammond e &£ (tEAZ T & HF KX ) &
GKD Index Partners, LLCF] 7 %8 {7 8§ B 1% &
(TAlerian BRI BB 1) © Bt - BEAE BB
AEKEmMZEESE B KHERE L EGKD
Index Partners, LLC KX 1E - HEZBESF BB
= E AR R AR -

RS HEBRENART B A2017F7 14
B K2018F1A158 2 A & WM & & &
26,309,000 3 7T (#7205,214,0007% 7T ) B F R
FEERP ©

201845 A 248 + R M 5 34 &, il #9 Alerian B
B B a4 1% - 2 4€ 25,000,000 7T (F1 K
ENMEEREEER)CERRITRETAE
B - BRE— S Bm2MME34 -
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6. 5 EWRIE

2018 & 20174
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET

Trade receivables from: B HEWNRIERE :
— Zhongzhi Capital — REEAR 233,072 2,772
— Independent third parties —BYE=H 540 6,034
233,612 8,806
Less: Allowance of doubtful debts B RERERE (540) (540)
233,072 8,266

The Group’s trade receivables arose generally from the
provision of corporate advisory services, investment advisory
and management services.

The Group’s normal trading term with its customers is that
payment is due upon the issuance of invoices, apart from
the investment advisory and management fee as described
below. The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its
outstanding receivables. Overdue balances are reviewed
regularly by senior management and executives responsible
for the related revenue. There were no movement in
allowance for trade receivables in the current year.

An aging analysis of the Group’s trade receivables which are
past due but not considered to be individually or collectively
impaired as at the end of the reporting period, based on the
invoice dates and net of impairment allowance, is as follows:

AREBNE 5 EUEIE—RRE DX
RIARTS ~ B A R E IR RS o

BRI NP E AR EEE RN - NEE
HEZPH-REZERINELBERRE
BH - ARBEFRERFBRIBEEREENE
WkIE - BEIR AR A B HARANS
REEABRATABESRS - EHRK
REBBENAFERLEZS

RImERR - EREFE A RNERERE
% AEEESREFA(EBHERRS
AMEREHFRE) KRBT

2018 & 2017 4

HK$°000 HK$'000

FEIT FET

Current to 30 days BIEAZ= 30 H — 1,729
31 to 60 days 31£260H — 350
61 to 90 days 61290H — 250
Over 90 days #3890 H — 3,165
— 5,494

The above analysis has not included investment advisory and
management fee receivables as at 31 March 2018 of
approximately HK$233,072,000 (2017: HK$2,772,000),
which were within 30 days.

LR AT EIER2018F3 A31 HHE
B hEEE R REKFKIEA 233,072,000
7T (20174 : 2,772,000/ 7T) * 30 HAF
HA(EE -
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16. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued)

All of the above receivables (except for the receivables in
relation to the investment advisory and management
services) that were past due but not impaired relate to a
number of independent customers that have good track
records with the Group, or have subsequently settled the
amounts due to the Group. The invoice dates of the above
trade receivables are generally the same as the
corresponding due dates apart from the investment advisory
and management fee. The management fee for managing
the investment portfolio is due within 90 days after the end
of each calendar year and the performance fee is due within
90 days after the receipt of the amount realised from the
disposal of certain assets in the investment portfolio
managed by the Group for Zhongzhi Capital in accordance
with the IAM Agreement signed on 2 February 2016
between Zhongzhi Capital and ACCF, a wholly owned
subsidiary of the Group. The directors of the Company are
of the opinion that, other than the impairments that have
already been made, no provision for impairment is necessary
in respect of these receivables as the balances have either
been recovered or are still considered fully recoverable.

The trade receivables amount has been received in full
subsequent to the year ended 31 March 2018.

Movements in the allowance for doubtful debts for trade
receivables are set out as follows:

16. EZEWFIE &)

LA EFTElE @ EAE KR E R B R IE (B R
S ERANEERSH R RIERIN) 23
MEFHALEELGRFEELHIERE
HEERNASEZRENBYRFEH - KRk
BHAREREAN LB ZEKGIAN
BEOH—REREMEISHEER - mER
REHAENERBEATEEFTREZIOAN
B REEREBEPEEAHESD (AEE
Z2EBMBAT)R201652 A2HET K
KREBAREEHE THEERKIBH
EAEEMEENRERANNETEEM
EESMFEHRIOBREH - KAREER
5B BREERREIN - BERZIEBE
BIELRERE  REAGH AT KB
WAR AR B EUE -

BHRBRIBEBNREE2018F3A31 B IEF
EiB®EARHKD -

B I REFIRNREEGZBERWT

2018 F 2017 &

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET

Balance at the beginning of the year FREER 540 2,130

Impairment loss recognised B HERAREEE = 50

Reversal of allowance recognised B[O MBS R B — (841)
in profit or loss

Amounts written off as uncollectible 1 AT U 2] 4 85 B 3R I8 — (799)

Balance at the end of the year FREH 540 540

As at 31 March 2018, trade receivables of approximately
HK$540,000 (2017: HK$540,000) were impaired. The
individually impaired receivables mainly relate to the
customers, which, based on the management’s assessment,
may not settle the impaired receivables in immediate future.

#H £20184F3 A31H » #540,000/8 T &9
E 5 ENFIE (2017 F 1 540,000/ 7T ) B3
BB - ERIERERKNEEEZRERE G
FESRTE S MERERKFIENEFES
o
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17. OTHER ASSETS AND RECEIVABLES 17. HttEEREWRKIE
2018 2017 F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHEIT
Prepayments TR FRIE 2,494 3,125
Rental and management fee deposits HeREBEBES 36,037 —
Others Hity 4,723 4,821
43,254 7,946
18. HELD FOR TRADING INVESTMENTS 18. HIEEERE
2018 2017 4
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Hong Kong and the USA listed equity DEARBEEEZEAR
investments classified as held for trading, B FHRIEIRE @ 1%
at quoted market price FrsRmE 5,903 115
19. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENT 19. JHEERE
20185 20174
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHEIT
Unlisted equity shares, at cost FE EmiEmAR D - LA 14,694 —
The Group designated 0.673% equity interest in SSC Holdco NE B R ) FFERR 15 SSC Holdco Limited
Limited as AFS financial assets on initial recognition. The H0.673% RERERATHLESRMEE -
investment is measured at cost less impairment at the end ZIRB R AR ENRE AR ETE
of the reporting period because the range of reasonable fair TIEE B A FEMETEEEAABAR A
value estimates is so significant that the directors of the EERRATEEESEE - F1EF2H
Company are of the opinion that the fair value cannot be FHEE 32(f) ©

measured reliably. For details, please refer to Note 32(f).
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20.

21.

116

CASH HELD ON BEHALF OF CLIENTS

The Group’s licensed subsidiary maintains segregated trust
accounts with a licensed bank to hold clients” monies arising
from its normal course of business. The Group has classified
the clients’ monies as cash held on behalf of clients under
the current assets section of the consolidated statement of
financial position, and recognised the corresponding
payables to the respective clients as trade payables on the
grounds that it is liable for any loss or misappropriation of
clients’ monies. The Group is not allowed to use clients’
monies to settle its own obligations.

BANK BALANCES AND CASH

HE 201843 A 31 H I

20 KEFEFREZHE

REBHFFIEN B A RNFFERITHRARIBL
EFERP  UERERAEXBBERETEELD
BEFHE - ARBCHEFRENBRES
MBANEZRDEERE TREFHAZR
T BHREAHEFPFEEX BRI A
MAREE - it @R HRE - EREE
MEMNRBIERE ZENFIE - AEETE
EREFPFIABEEEFE -

21, MITERRRE

20184 2017 F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Short-term bank deposits WHRITER

— with original maturity over three —REIFEBA=EA
months = 74,339

— with original maturity within three —REBER=EAR
months 88,844 344,935
Bank balances and cash IRITHEBRNIA 156,416 545,007
245,260 964,281

Non-term deposit bank balances carry interest at floating
rates ranging from 0.01% to 0.25% (2017: from 0.01% to
0.25%) per annum.

As at 31 March 2018, the short-term bank deposits with an
original maturity of three months or less amounted to
HK$88,844,000 (2017: HK$344,935,000). Term deposits
bear interest rates ranging from 0.35% to 1.01% (2017:
from 0.83% to 1.01%) per annum.

FEERERRITERRFIBNE001%E
0.25% (20174 : 0.01% £0.25% )& B °

MN2018FE3A31H - REBA A=A
LA A B 52 B8R 7 1% 5K /488,844,000 7 JT
(20175 : 344,935,000 7T)  EHEFEXH
F R R A F035%E1.01%(20174F : A
0.83%£1.01%) °
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For the year ended 31 March 2018

22. TRADE PAYABLES 22. ESENFIE

FIAE 5N RIB AR S RIE Y AN RIBL
2,000 7T (20174 : 217,000/ 1) » B ¥F
S ARIES o

Included in trade payables are payables for clients monies of
approximately HK$2,000 (2017: HK$217,000) which are
segregated in the trust accounts.

Trade payables excluding clients monies, based on the
settlement due dates, are all due within 30 days (2017: due
within 30 days) as at the end of the year.

RER - RERDHH - EFEAFTE(E
EREBIN 930 B REIEF (2017 4«
30 HAEIHE) -

23. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 23. HitENRERETER
2018 & 2017 F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FETT FET
Accruals and other payables fEstE A M EH M EARIE 14,240 13,727
Provision for bonus TEAT Bt - 33,467
14,240 47,194

Rz EFEMEEBENRIESRE RE
EHRA—EAZT_M@EA -

All other payables are non-interest-bearing and have a term
of one month to twelve months in both years.

24. SHARE CAPITAL 24. A&
Number of
shares Amount
BREHEHE k-]
HK$°000
FET
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each HRXEE0.01 BT mAk
Authorised: VETE
As at 1 April 2016, 31 March 2017, R2016F481H 20174
1 April 2017 and 31 March 2018 3A31H 2017F4A1H8
K 20183 A31H 10,000,000,000 100,000
Issued and fully paid: BEETREE :
As at 1 April 2016, 31 March 2017, R2016F4 818 20174
1 April 2017, and 31 March 2018 3A31H 201754 A8 1H
& 20183 A31H 3,550,496,836 35,505
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25.

118

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 7 June 2010, the Company adopted a share option
scheme which became effective on 18 June 2010 (the
“Share Option Scheme”) and, unless otherwise cancelled or
amended, will remain in force for 10 years from the date of
Listing. The Company operates the Share Option Scheme for
the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible
participants for their contributions to the Group. Eligible
participants of the Share Option Scheme include the
directors and employees of the Group and other individuals
as determined by the directors on the basis of their
contribution to the development and growth of the Group.

The maximum number of unexercised share options
currently permitted to be granted under the Share Option
Scheme and any other share option scheme of the Company
is an amount equivalent, upon their exercise, to
120,000,000 Shares, being 10% of the shares of the
Company in issue as at the date of approval of the Share
Option Scheme. As at the date of this annual report, the
total number of shares available for issue under the Share
Option Scheme is 120,000,000 Shares, representing 3.38%
of the existing issued share capital of the Company. The
maximum number of Shares issuable under share options to
each eligible participant in the Share Option Scheme and
any other share option scheme of the Company within any
12-month period, is limited to 1% of the shares of the
Company in issue at any time. Any further grant of share
options in excess of these limits are subject to shareholders’
approval in a general meeting with such participant and his/
her associates abstaining from voting.

HE 201853 H31 HIFFE

25.

R 8l

R2010F6 A7H » ANRQRIRM— BRI
& HR2010%F6 518 B £ ([ R #
&) MBRIESHRAHHISET EBBE L
MEHBERIOF - XA & ERKREST
gl LXW%T$$@VEH’JE@(E']A§T§/A%
EL BNk 52 - RAXEFTEIN A ER B H
%@%$%@§$&1@;&%$% BEHAR
EEEREERELERAEEETHHEHMD
At

R AR IBR R AR ST 8 AR BHER A
ﬁﬂ WL\HXEE u‘l’iuT_‘ H—_ll E}] I_LJ *TT'{% wuHX*’EEELIEJ
B &% 7 120,000,000 f% J% 15 (BN H & 17

FEERANRBRIERBAET 8IS AR BT
ME10%) - RAFHA S - RBAAEF8R

T A F 31T % 15 42 88 & 120,000,000 % %
M MERARABREBEERTRAN
3.38% ° WRIERIIEEE( 128 A HBR AR
BT T RIMEA B R AR BE H Ath R A% AE
ESABR2HEENRNDERHEERKA
NEfEAEBDEITRMDE1% o Ff#E—
FREBBIRENRREERNRERNE
KRR (RS A R H B8 A T EK
BRE)
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25. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

Share options granted to a director, chief executive or
substantial shareholder of the Company, or to any of their
associates, are subject to approval in advance by the
independent non-executive directors of the Company
(excluding any independent non-executive director who is a
prospective grantee). In addition, any share options granted
under the Share Option Scheme and any other share option
scheme of the Company to a substantial shareholder or an
independent non-executive director of the Company, or to
any of their associates, in excess of 0.1% of the shares of
the Company in issue or with an aggregate value (based on
the closing price of the Shares at the date of grant) in excess
of HK$5 million, within any 12-month period, are subject to
independent shareholders’ approval in advance a general
meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted
within 21 days from the date of offer, upon payment of a
nominal consideration of HK$1 in total by the grantee. The
exercise period of the share options granted is determinable
by the directors and ends on a date which is not later than
10 years from the date upon which the share options is
granted or the lapse of the Share Option Scheme, whichever
is earlier.

The exercise price of the share options is determinable by
the directors but may not be less than the highest of (i) the
closing price of the Shares quoted on the Stock Exchange
on the date of grant, which must be a business day, (i) the
average closing price of the Shares quoted on the Stock
Exchange for the five business days immediately preceding
the date of grant, and (iii) the nominal value of a Share.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to
dividends or to vote at shareholders’ meetings.

No share option has been granted since the adoption of the
Share Option Scheme.

25.

&%2018@3)% 31 H 1k 4B

R ERTE ()

BRYADRES - hﬂu\sjigﬂx%
Ejztftfﬂﬁﬁsrﬂsp%é/\imwﬂﬁttiﬁﬁﬁm
%ﬁ#%ﬂﬁ%%(T\@%Eﬂ%%ﬂ%;ﬂ%/\
BB IEMITES) BLUE o 1IN+ IR
BRI MERT B3k AR A AT H Ab R AR #E AT B
ROEAREETAARNEZRESRIB L
IHTEBTRAMEENHEALTRBBAR
A2 TR M9 0.1% s iME1] 12 18 B B
REEROHREL ABRNKRHESH) B
i%5,000,000 8 THEERNRREAE LLHE
SRR AL ©

REREBREARARAMNEZERES
HUBETR RIE2BHEF21 AREER
e CRERBBIENTERATHESET
jﬁﬁATﬂﬁAhﬁwﬂx%EH}ﬁ_utm@‘kw
IR BN E A AREE RE) &

RBENTEENHESEE - ETFER
TEIJE’J RaE  (VRODKELEH(BAER
L BB PTATERUTHE - (i) RO E
B B H AT AR & R B R X AT AT A
BUTE - R Gi) R EE °

REELEE T RHAEAZAREXNBRRA
T LEREZEN -

B BRAN B AR R 81 LA SR SR AR L (AR
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26.

120

DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PLAN
Hong Kong

The Group participates in the Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme (“MPF Scheme”) established under the Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance in December 2000. The
assets of the schemes are held separately from those of the
Group in funds under the control of trustees.

For members of the MPF Scheme, the Group contributes 5%
of the relevant payroll costs to the MPF Scheme subject only
to the maximum level of payroll costs of HK$30,000 per
employee, which contribution is matched by the employees.

The USA

The Group provides the option for employees of its
subsidiary in the USA to participate in a 401K retirement
plan. The assets of the schemes are held separately from
those of the Group in funds under the control of a plan
manager.

For employees choosing to participate in the plan, the
employer matches contributions of up to 4% of the
employees’ relevant payroll subject only to the maximum
level of payroll costs of US$10,800 per employee.

UK

The Group operates a defined contribution scheme for the
benefit of the employees of its subsidiary in the UK. Under
the scheme, members may elect to contribute up to 5% of
relevant payroll costs and the contributions shall be matched
by employer.

HE 201843 A 31 H I

6. RE MK

&8

A& B 2 BRI 1 A TE 2 A EE AR
20004 12 AR A 98 Fl tE R TE & R8I ([ 58
BeFtEl]) - ZETEMBEER LN AEEN
BE BMXEAZGNESEE -

PARBEFEKEME  AKEZRARTIE
FXZNE 5% RSB TR & At 8IS IR R E
& 30,000 BTTH TERANAR - Bzt
BEMHEFR—B-

E=H

AEEREXBHBARNEERHES A
A0TKRAKFT BIMIEE - AT EIMEBEEB Y
RAKBNEE Bt SIEEAZHNES
A

HNRIERHEZTENEE  EERSEE
SBRBETENA%ELEZ - BUEUEES
10,800 LA TEM A AR o

HE

RERE R R BB R R)E B M)A T R E
FUEHARET 8 - RIBEZATE - KEREESR
SRBEIERANS% ELHK - BEE
PR R B R — B o
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HE 201843 A 31 H IE4FAEE

OPERATING LEASE 27. R&EHE
2018 2017 4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHETT FHEIT
Minimum lease payments
under operating leases during the year FREEHE 7 HIEHEENZ 46,626 9,515

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had
commitments for future minimum lease payments under
non-cancellable operating leases which fall due as follows:

REREIR - AEERERIER AT HRE
HAM AT AR S Bt 2 R R RRES
I

2018 F 20174

HK$°000 HK$°000

FET FET

Within one year —F R 42,855 37,486
In the second to fifth year, inclusive FoFEFERF(RREEREMT) 43,888 43,195
Over five years BiRAF 14,243 6,382
100,986 87,063

Operating lease payments represent rentals payables by the
Group for certain of its office properties. Leases are
negotiated and rentals are fixed for terms of two to seven
years.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 March 2018, the Group has entered into the
Alerian Unit Purchase Agreement as described in Note 15
for the acquisition of the equity interest in GKD Index
Partners, LLC. The total consideration payable by the Group
under the Alerian Unit Purchase Agreement (including
contingent consideration) is not expected to exceed US$812
million (equivalent to approximately HK$6,344 million).

The Alerian Unit Purchase Agreement was subsequently
terminated on 22 May 2018 as described in Note 34.

28.

KEHENTERNSEREE TIHAYERE
e  BHOLEREE  MESE2E
7FRETE °

AR EIE

AN FE 15 H A - 7R 2018F3 A31 HASL
B 8] 37 Alerian B8 (17 & B 173 5% LA U B8 GKD
Index Partners, LLC f&#E o K& E R IE Alerian
BUBBEHRENNARE (BEIARE)
8 H# 1 #3 #8:812,000,000% ;L (HH B R 4
6,344,000,000787T) ©

Alerian B\ % B 17 s H £ 7020184 5 A 22
B4R IE - SanpsE 34 St -
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29.

122

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the
Group will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to shareholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group's
overall strategy remains unchanged over years.

The capital structure of the Group consists of bank balances
and cash and equity attributable to owner of the Company,
comprising share capital, retained profits and other reserves.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure
on a periodical basis. As part of this review, the directors of
the Company consider the cost of capital and the risks
associated with each class of capital. Based on
recommendations of the directors of the Company, the
Group will balance its overall capital structure through the
payment of dividends, new share issues and share buy-backs
as well as the issue of new debts or the redemption of
existing debt.

A subsidiary of the Group (i.e. ACCF) is regulated by the
Securities and Futures Commission (the “SFC”) and is
required to comply with certain minimum capital
requirements according to the rules of the SFC. The required
liquid capital according to the rules of the SFC was
HK$3,000,000 as at 31 March 2018 and 31 March 2017.
The management monitors ACCF's liquid capital regularly to
ensure it meets the minimum liquid capital requirement in
accordance with the Securities and Futures (Financial
Resources) Rules adopted by the SFC.

HE 201853 H31 HIFFE

29. EXMEEEE

AEBEEEREAUERASEEBEME
BRERE RREBELEBREDER

RIS S B - B - A E e
BB R TS -
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30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 30. €T H

30a. Categories of financial instruments 30a. £E T AE5

and policies

The Group’s major financial instruments comprise of
bank balances and cash, deposit for proposed
acquisition of a subsidiary, trade receivables, other
assets and receivables, convertible loan receivable
designated at FVTPL, held for trading investments, AFS
investments, amount due to an intermediate holding
company, trade payables and other payables. Details
of the financial instruments are disclosed in respective
notes. The risks associated with these financial
instruments include market risks (currency risk, interest
rate risk and price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.
The policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out
below. The management manages and monitors these
exposures to ensure appropriate measures are
implemented on a timely and effective manner.

2018 F 20174
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Financial assets SREE
Convertible loan receivable TR AFERIBERKRIIRN
designated at FVTPL FEW AT AR B 5K 249,405 =
Held for trading investments BEBEEKRE 5,903 115
AFS investment AIEHERE 14,694 —
Loan and receivables (including cash EX & EWFIE (BIER S RIRS
and cash equivalents) ZEY) 723,159 1,013,668
993,161 1,013,783
Financial liabilities =K
Amortised cost B PR 14,242 47,869
30b.Financial risk management objectives 30b. BB EMEEBERBE

FEENTZCRITABBRITES
BT BREBHNBARNZE  H
5 EUWGRIA « H & 2 N B UWGRIA -
BEREATFERBRRIIRNREK
HMBRED  FEEERE - AHH
ERE  ENHEEZERIBRER &
FENFTAREMENRE - T
BMTANFERSMERRE - B
FemTARENERERET SRR
(B¥ER  MERBREERRR)
ERERFRE R L o TEZ G0
MR EZFRRNBR - EEEHZ
FRBETEEREE  ARREREE
B R REUE E i ©
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For the year ended 31 March 2018

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

30b.Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Market risk

(1)

Currency risk

The Group’s exposure to currency risk
attributable to the convertible loan receivable
designated at FVTPL, deposit for proposed
acquisition of a subsidiary, bank balances and
payables which are denominated in the
currencies other than the functional currency of
the entity to which they related. The
management manages and monitors this

HE 201843 A 31 H I

30. £ T A&

30b. B EMEREBERBER (&)

5 kg

(1)

EEER

AEEHEGAEBERINEER
PN E B SHERIEE RERF
BERBHERIIRN RGBS
% BUKEBHBLRNZRS R

%&EH RIRELNE KR

BRI SRR
Mﬁﬁ&%ﬁﬂm%m@ah
I

exposure to ensure approximate measures are
implemented on a timely and effective manner.

RBEHR » AEEASNEHE
MEKEEREKAENREE

The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign
currency denominated monetary assets and

monetary liabilities at the end of the reporting R
period are as follows:
Liabilities Assets
afE BE
2018 2017 4 2018 2017 4
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET T
us$ T 3,788 4,811 498,539 13,396
Pound sterling (“GBP") g% 2,840 6,852 1,539 2,109
Renminbi (“RMB") AR 1 1 3,161 3,088
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For the year ended 31 March 2018

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

30b.Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(1)

Currency risk (Continued)
Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been
determined based on a 10% increase/decrease
in functional currency of respective entities
against the relevant foreign currencies. 10% is
the sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign
currency risk internally to key management
personnel and represents management'’s
assessment of the reasonably possible change in
foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis
includes only outstanding foreign currency
denominated monetary items and adjusts their
translation at the end of the reporting period for
a 10% change in foreign currency rates. A
positive number below indicates an increase in
post-tax profit, where functional currency of
respective foreign entities had weakened 10%
against the relevant foreign currency. For a 10%
strengthening of functional currency of
respective entities against the relevant foreign
currency, there would be an equal and opposite
impact on the profit and the balances below
would be negative.

30. €@t T

B &)

> AE

30b. EEBREEEERBEK (&)

5 m ()
() E%E5REE)
BREED

AT SRRE DT IIRIEEEE RS
ZMEEEM HRBEINE 2 FHE/
REIO%ET - 10%AMEE
EEE ABTEANIBIRE INE R R
LERE L INEE RS IEE

FEESFTE R GURERLE - 5
REDITEBIFEAINEETE Z H
AEMNERIAR - WHRBmEEKR
1 10% 2 JNEE B 2= B &) i BE 1R
L7BE  LNIEBRRERIZ
= AIG AN - E AR BN E BER
TIREE M HABRA NS BZ B 10% ©
BRI ERETN RE & S BRI INE
FE10% * AISEaFEERE
FRRZZE  MIATEH#EAE
g °

GBP RMB
e AR
HK$'000 HK$'000
FEr FEr
2018 2018 4F
(Decrease) increase in profit FREF OptA>) 10
for the year (109) 264
2017 20174
(Decrease) increase in profit F R Ok 2>) 1240
for the year (396) 258
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30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

126

30b.Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(1)

(if)

(iii)

Currency risk (Continued)

For the exposure of HK$ against US$, there will
be no significant impact as HK$ is pegged with
US$. Accordingly, no foreign currency sensitivity
analysis is presented.

Interest rate risk

The Group is also exposed to cash flow interest
rate risk in relation to variable-rate bank
balances (see Note 21 for details). The Group's
cash flow interest rate risk is mainly
concentrated on the fluctuation of interest rates
on bank balances and HIBOR arising from the
Group’s Hong Kong dollar denominated
deposits.

The management considers the cash flow
interest rate risk in relation to variable-rate bank
balances is insignificant and therefore no
sensitivity analysis on such risk has been
prepared.

Other price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk arising
from held for trading investments. The Group's
equity price risk is mainly concentrated on equity
instruments operating in securities and
brokerage and internet industry sectors quoted
in the Hong Kong Stock Exchange and National
Association of Securities Dealers Automated
Quotations. The Group is also exposed to equity
price risk arising from the convertible loan
receivable designated at FVTPL.

HE 201853 H31 HIFFE

30. €@ T

H (&)

== i

30b. B EREEEERBEK (&)

5 m i ()

(i)

(i)

(ifi)

E¥E R (&)

RN TTESE T - BB
EnRRYBERTE - Filt
3 & 2 S SNEGURE DA

AEEIRE S Y BRITHERE
MRS REN KRR (FRH
iE21) c AREMBREREF X
R £ B R PRBITAEERFIE K
$%I/%7T:Eﬂf7(¥ RELENEE
TTRZEFREIKE -

EREERABEZERITHBREH
MNIRESREMERBRIL TEX -
A BT Z R R R R GURRE H
7 o

E (BT E R

AEERGHEEEREELN
BRERR - AEENBRERRE

EE¢EE%W“%&%%%ﬁ
BRI B S LA R B BT
BRR $$@ﬁ@hﬁﬂ$
ﬁ#%ﬁ%ﬂ%m%WTﬁkg
REEMBREERRR o
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30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 30. €RTH

30b.Financial risk management objectives 30b. MEEMEREERBE (&)

and policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(iir)

Other price risk (Continued)
Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have been
determined based on the exposure to equity
price risk at the reporting date. If the equity
prices of the held for trading investments had
been 5% higher/lower (2017: 5%), post-tax
profit for the year ended 31 March 2018 would
increase/decrease by HK$246,000 (2017: post-
tax profit would increase/decrease by HK$5,000)
as a result of the changes in fair value.

For the convertible loan receivable designated at
FVTPL, if the equity price had been 5% higher/
lower (2017: 5%), post-tax profit for the year
ended 31 March 2018 would increase/decrease
by HK$10,413,000 (2017: nil) as a result of the
changes in fair value.

Credit risk

As at 31 March 2018, other than those financial assets
whose carrying amounts best represent the maximum
exposure to credit risk, the Group’s maximum
exposure to credit risk which will cause a financial loss
to the Group due to failure to discharge an obligation
by the counterparties is arising from the carrying
amount of the respective recognised financial assets as
stated in the consolidated statement of financial
position.

TSR (&)
(i) B EEERE (&)

2

BRE DT

G

AN SRR S DT ThAR IR 3R A 85
BB ELBS Wk O EE TE o i1
BEERERME LR T EK%
(2017%F : 5%) AR A FEH
WEH HZE2018F3A31H
IEFE BT SR ASIE 0,8
4>246,0007% 7T (20174 : BR
1% = F # 3% o0 R 45,0007
JC) °

HRETE AR ATFERIERERKY
BRAEW TR E R - iR(E £
& T BK5% (20174 : 5%) -
AR AT ETHIREEZE) - 8{=2018
F3A31 ALFENBRTBETR
#1208 410,413,000 7T
(20174 &)

= A BB

R2018FE3A31H BEEERER
rEaERRBRHNEREEN A&
EREFHAEBTEIMERESR
XU BBANEAERRKRKELRAE
kR EENRE
{E °
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30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 30. €M T A @)

128

30b.Financial risk management objectives

30b. B EREEEERBEK (&)

and policies (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued)

Other than concentration of credit risk on liquid funds,
the Group has concentration of credit risk on trade
receivables as 100% (2017: 76%) of the total trade
receivables was due from the Group's related party
(2017: Group's related party and third parties) within
the corporate advisory and IAM business segment. In
order to minimise the credit risk, the Group closely
communicates with the intermediate holding company
for the settlement amount and reviews the
outstanding debt at the end of the reporting period to
ensure that adequate impairment losses are made for
irrecoverable amounts.

The Group does not have any other significant
concentration of credit risk, with exposure spread over
a number of counterparties.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the
counterparties are banks with high credit ratings
assigned by international credit-rating agencies.

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group
monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash
equivalents deemed adequate by the management to
finance the Group’s operations and mitiga